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DY 41 B 5 g L FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HE12A31BIEEFE For the year ended 31 December 2010 2009 2008 2007

RERE Operating Results
EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 40.4% 40.5% 42.4% 41.3%
IEEFEE (%) Operating profit margin (%) 19.8% 28.7% 2.9% 31.5%
SFERE (%) (BaE) Net profit margin (%) (note) 15.1% 23.2% 0.3% 28.4%
PR EIERE (%) Return on equity (%) 22.1% 38.5% 0.6% 58.8%
B Financial Position
BEE (THT) Total assets (HK$'000) 197,409 165,963 160,594 129,476
ReRkBeEEY (FET) Cash and cash equivalents

(HK$'000) 15,584 23,493 19,349 22,764
RITETEE (FET) Total bank loans (HK$'000) 28,205 23,850 26,477 =
KA FIRERRER Total equity attributable to

e B (F5T) equity shareholder

of the Company (HK$'000) 135,839 97,055 50,581 44,192
Bt 2 Financial Ratios
MENELAI (%) Current ratio (times) 1.45 111 0.62 0.92
RENLLOI (%) Quick ratio (times) 1.14 0.87 0.47 0.76
BELE (%) Gearing ratio (%) 20.8% 23.7% 51.9% =
Atk Turnover Ratios
FER#E (B) Inventory turnover (days) 54 61 80 70
fEUEE A (H) Debtors turnover (days) 62 49 55 61
TR AE (H) Creditors turnover (days) 36 45 35 29
A (B) Operating cycle (days) 80 65 100 102

WiaE - AFIIEA L Al e iR RGN 5 T

Note: net profit represents profit attributable to the equity shareholder of the Company.
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The following is a summary of the consolidated income statement

RIZTE - and consolidated balance sheet of the Group:
Al € B CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
2010 2009 2008 2007
TET TERT TR TER
BHE=12A31BIEFE For the year ended 31 December  HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EER Turnover 199,224 160,714 117,399 91,577
HERA Cost of sales (118,765) (95,582) (67,624) (53,735)
e Gross Profit 80,459 65,132 49,775 37,842
Hiodras Other revenue 1,093 305 176 146
RETBRAESGEERZIRK  Net realised and unrealised
REBME(BE)FE gain/(loss) on investments in
listed equity securities - 6,841 (22,370) 10,910
Htb&F,/ (BR)FH8 Other net income/(loss) 290 (370) (490) (629)
7 SRR Distribution costs (9,570) (7,446) (7,417) (7,360)
THFAS Administrative expenses (32,885) (18,323) (16,230) (12,048)
KR F Profit from operations 39,387 46,139 3,444 28,861
BE AN Finance costs (1,614) (1,885) (913) -
BRE AR R Profit before taxation 37,773 44,254 2,531 28,861
FTiSHt Income tax (7,000) (3,979) (4,601) (1,481)
EREF,/(B5E) Profit/(loss) for the year 30,773 40,275 (2,070) 27,380
AT &AL Attributable to:
RA B RER Equity shareholder
of the Company 30,071 37,350 312 25,990
R Non-controlling interests 702 2,925 (2,382) 1,390
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AR CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
2010 2009 2008 2007
TET FERT TR TR
®12A318 1 As at 31 December HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FREEE Non-current assets 107,980 94,097 93,867 53,079
ElEEE Fixed assets
-0% - BERRE —Property, plant and equipment 98,139 87,199 83,076 46,777
-RERERERE ~Interest in leasehold land held
EANEE T iR for own use under operating lease 4,285 4,232 4,316 4,151
B AE Intangible assets 4511 = = =
REEWGEUR Long-term receivables = 847 1,055 918
B R ER B ERENTIA Prepayment for fixed and
intangible assets 489 875 474 1,111
EXHIREAE Deferred tax assets 556 944 1,544 122
HismEE Other financial assets = = 3,402 =
REEE Current assets 89,429 71,866 66,727 76,397
RE Inventories 19,281 15,432 16,283 13,306
B 5 REAM YA Trade and other receivables 53,349 29,688 22,099 20,530
R EMRAEHZE Investments in listed equity
securities - - 8,996 19,797
FEURBERE 5 3OR Amount due from related parties = 1,034 = -
BIER AT Y B4 TE Current tax recoverable 1,215 2,219 = =
ReRRESEY Cash and cash equivalents 15,584 23,493 19,349 22,764
EERE Total assets 197,409 165,963 160,594 129,476




Kee
& ¥ Annual Report 2010

SR

Financial Summary

BHumfifik CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
2010 2009 2008 2007
FTiEr FAT TAET TAER
®12A3181E As at 31 December HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REEE Current liabilities 61,570 64,863 107,501 82,899
B 5 R EM BN Trade and other payables 30,445 24,964 27,101 27,261
JEBERE S 50R Amount due to related parties - 11,051 47,367 53,984
RITER Bank loans 28,205 23,850 26,477 =
BMEMEEML Obligation under finance lease = = 1,354 =
BNERFET A1 Current tax payable 2,920 4,998 5,202 1,654
RBEE/(BE) B8 Net current assets/(liabilities) 27,859 7,003 (40,773) (6,501)
BEAERABER Total assets less current liabilities 135,839 101,100 53,093 46,577
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A RORE FLR CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
2010 2009 2008 2007
TEx FEr THx ThEx
w12 A3181E As at 31 December HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRBER Non-current liabilities = 631 2,040 =
BMEMESE Obligation under finance lease = = 1,566 =
EEFIHEEE Deferred tax liabilities = 631 474 =
EEFE Net assets 135,839 100,469 51,053 46,577
EXRG#E Capital and reserves 135,839 97,055 50,581 44192
AR Share capital = 1,000 1,000 1,000
fafE Reserves 135,839 96,055 49,581 43,192
ROEERRRE Total equity attributable to
hRERAE equity shareholder of
the Company 135,839 97,055 50,581 44,192
TR S Non-controlling interests = 3,414 472 2,385
A5 Total equity 135,839 100,469 51,053 46,577
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RANEREXEEE MARERAFIERER On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
NEHZE2010F 12 A31 BIEFEMNFIR - report of KEE Holdings Company Limited for the year ended 31
December 2010.

o R AN IMPORTANT MILESTONE

AARFR2011F 1 12 BN E BB AT Our Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
FRET - LS BELNA1.53EETT - Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 12 January 2011 with listing
Bz ERARBEERAREEANEELD proceeds raised amounting to approximately HK$153 million.
159E 2B RNIBHEEERE KW EmAE The public offer tranche of the initial public offering was very
EEARTISRARNBIRE AT EEBKE significantly oversubscribed by approximately 159 times. The
B thBBBRME—FNERIETH 2 M successful listing has not only provided us with a platform in
MR - the capital markets to continue to grow our business, but also
facilitated us to further strengthen our KEE brand image in the
market.

10
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year 2010, we recorded sustainable growth in the sale of
zipper products in the PRC and overseas markets. Our turnover
increased by approximately 24.0% from HK$160.71 million
to HK$199.22 million on a year-on-year basis, thanks to our
continuous success in providing tailor made products and services
to the apparel brand owners we serve. We successfully started
cooperation with 22 new apparel brand owners, comprising
10 local brands and 12 international brands. We will zealously
serve and maintain a close working relationship with apparel
brand owners and believe we have the capability to increase our
sales to them going forward through our ability to provide value-
adding solutions which include (i) sharing the ideas on how to
better utilise zippers with different distinctive designs, colours
and functionalities and to enhance the appearance and unique
characters of apparel; (ii) coping with the rapidly changing trends
and tastes of the apparel retail market by producing zippers with
tailor-made designs and specific functionalities within a short
period of production lead time; and (iii) offering to design and
providing different kinds of premium items to apparel brand

owners in order to complement their marketing activities.

Our gross profit margin was successfully maintained at over
40% during the year despite the fact that the prices of major
raw materials (such as copper and zinc alloy) increased over the
year 2010. We effectively overcame the effect of such increases
through (i) increased production efficiency by means of further
automation in the production process; (ii) a better cost control
on the outsourced electroplating process; and (iii) achieving
the benefits of economies of scale. The profit attributable to
Shareholder decreased by approximately 19.5% from HK$37.35
million in 2009 to HK$30.07 million in 2010, primarily due to (i) a
gain on investments in listed equity securities of approximately
HK$6.84 million recorded in 2009 while the Group ceased
investing in listed equity securities in July 2009; and (i) an increase
in the professional fees and expenses incurred in connection with
the listing of the Shares on 12 January 2011 of approximately
HK$9.82 million recorded in 2010.

11
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CHALLENGES AHEAD

The shortage of labour was a problem for most of the
manufacturers in the southern China region in 2010 but there
was no major shortage of labour which.caused a material impact
on our business, as the level of wages and benefits we offered
to our staff was relatively higher than those offered by other
zipper manufacturers in the same region. However, restrictions
on electricity consumption imposed by the local government in
Zhejiang province could be a challenge for usin near future, as
this may adversely affect the operation of our Zhejiang Plant which
requires continuous and steady supply of electricity. We plan
to resolve this.potential problem by purchasing back-up internal
power supply facilities at our Zhejiang Plant in case there is any

power supply disruption.

For the year 2011, we expect uncertainties in global economy
will exist and market nervousness concerning the fiscal positions
of several [European countries may also pose a new challenge
for the world economy. In addition, the nuclear fears triggered
by and the worries regarding the Japanese economy as a result
of the massive earthquake that struck the northeast coast of
Japan in March 2011 may cause abnormal capital outflow from
major stock markets in the world and the investors’ confidence
in recovery of global economy may also be shaken. However, we
remain optimistic on the outlook of our business, especially our
market in China. In order to increase market share and capture
growth opportunities in our target markets, we will use all efforts
to maintain and reinforce our competitive strengths such as: (i)
close working relationship with apparel brand owners; (i) vertical
integration of zipper production processes; (iii) custom-made
production machinery; (iv) stringent quality control; and (v) design
capability. We will keep making more extensive and better use of
the SAP system which enables the Company’s subsidiaries and

functional departments to better communicate with one another,
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OVERVIEW

The Group is a producer of finished zippers in China. The Group’s
customers for zippers are OEMs who manufacture apparel
products for (i) apparel brands in China; and (ii) some well known
international apparel labels. The Group maintains a close working
relationship with apparel brand owners on the design of zippers
to be applied in the apparel products. The apparel brand owners
usually decide on the zipper supplier for their OEMs and place
orders with such OEMs who in turn source zippers from the
Group.

The Group also supplies sliders, components of zippers (including
continuous zipper chains and stops) and moulds to other zipper
manufacturers and designs and supplies premium items such
as toy figures, ornaments and key-rings exclusively to apparel
brand owners to meet the promotional needs for their products.
During the year 2010, approximately 89.5% of the turnover was
derived from sales in China. Other regions to which the Group
sold its products include the United States, Switzerland, Italy,
South Africa, Taiwan, Indonesia and Bangladesh. In particular, the
Group is a supplier of sliders to a European zipper producer who
manufactures zippers for well known fashion brands.
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The Group is a vertically integrated producer for zippers,
except for the electroplating process which is outsourced to an
independent third party. The Group believes the advantages of
vertical integration that the Group benefits from include (i) lower
transaction costs; (i) higher certainty in the quality of products; (iii)
improved supply chain coordination; (iv) the capture of upstream
and downstream profit margins; and (v) an increase in barriers
to entry for potential competitors. The Group is also capable
of developing its own custom-made production machinery
and modifying conventional machinery so that zippers can be

produced more efficiently and with greater consistency in quality.

The Group achieved sustainable growth in the year 2010 partly
due to the recovery of global economy led by countries with
fast emerging consumer markets such as China. The stimulus
economic policies promulgated by the PRC government
generated a driving force to economic growth, which increased
the disposable income of urban households in China and also the
consumer demand for apparel products. As zippers are commonly
used in apparel, the growth of consumer demand for apparel
products had a positive impact on the Group's turnover growth.
Other key factors contributing to the Group’s sustainable growth
in 2010 are the Group’'s competitive strengths which mainly
include its (i) ability to maintain a close working relationship with
apparel brand owners; (ii) experienced management team; (iii)
vertical integration of production processes for zippers; (iv) ability
to develop own custom-made production machinery; (v) ability
to design and produce moulds for making sliders; (vi) stringent
quality control; and (vii) corporate and brand reputation. These
strengths enable the Group to increase market share and capture
growth opportunities in the Group’s target markets. There were
22 new apparel brand owners, comprising 10 local brands and
12 international brands, cooperated with the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

15
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The gross profit margin for the year 2010 was maintained at
40.4% which is comparable to the gross profit margin of 40.5%
for the year 2009. The Directors believe that any increase in the
major raw material prices, which are determined by supply and
demand conditions in the global and China markets, may cause
impact to the Group's gross profit margin. The prices of major
raw materials (such as copper and zinc alloy) increased over the
year 2010 but the effect of such increases was minimised by (i)
the Group's increased production efficiency by means of further
automation in the production process; (ii) a better cost control
on the outsourced electroplating process; and (iii) achieving the
benefits of economies of scale.

PROSPECTS

The Directors are optimistic about the outlook of the zipper
industry in China primarily due to the continuous increase in

the disposable income and thus purchasing power of the urban
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population, which has driven demand for quality apparel, sports
equipment and similar products, and hence good quality zippers.
Built on the Group’s existing brand portfolio, the Directors intend
to diversify the brand portfolio into local and international labels
with a view to increasing the Group’s market share for quality
zippers for both local and international apparel. To this end,
the Group plans to (i) set up sales offices in the United States
and Europe; and (i) increase the number of experienced sales
executives and design personnel. The Group has a sales and
marketing team consisting of one senior sales manager, seven
sales managers and 53 sales assistants, who are assigned to
serve customers in three geographical regions: (i) Guangdong/
Fujian region; (ii) Shanghai/Jiangsu/Zhejiang region; and (iii) Hong
Kong and overseas. The Group intends to increase the number
of sales executives for serving customers in each of the three
regions and to recruit experienced sales managers to handle the
operations of sales offices that may be set up in the United States
and Europe with a view to further increasing the Group's exposure
to the international market.

The Directors also aim to further strengthen the Group’s position
in the quality zipper market and the Group will continue to strive
to achieve growth of business and ensure that the Group remains
competitive through (i) targeted marketing to apparel brand
owners to increase brand awareness in the market by providing
regular guidance and training sessions on the use of new materials
and fashion trends to sales executives and raising their awareness
of the Group’s service-and solution-oriented business approach to
sales and marketing; (ii) expansion and diversification of finished
zipper offerings in terms of design materials, workmanship,
functions and usages such as finished zippers for footwear
products, camping equipments, bags and upholstery furnishings;
(iii) strengthening product design, research and development
capabilities by increasing the number of designers and technical
personnel with appropriate qualifications and sending them on

overseas Vvisits, conferences and seminars in order to enhance
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their international exposure to the apparel industry; and (iv) making
more extensive and better use of the SAP system which enables
the Company's subsidiaries and functional departments to better
communicate with one another, better control purchases and
inventory levels, and better monitor deliveries. Further to the
Group’s successful implementation and operation of the SAP
system at Guangdong Plant in 2010, the SAP system was also
implemented at Zhejiang Plant in April 2011.

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 12 January 2011. The net proceeds
received from the initial public offering, including the exercise of
the over-allotment option and after deducting related expenses,
were approximately HK$130 million. Such net proceeds were
deposited at the Group’s bank account and will be used in the
manner consistent with that mentioned in the section headed
“Future plans and proposed use of proceeds” of the Prospectus.
In the event that the Directors decide to use such net proceeds
in a manner different from that stated in the Prospectus, the
Company will issue a further announcement in compliance with

the Listing Rules.

TURNOVER

The Group's turnover for the year 2010 amounted to HK$199.22
million, representing a growth of 24.0% as compared to the
year 2009 primarily as a result of an increase in sales of finished
zippers. The CAGR of the Group's turnover over the four years
ended 31 December 2010 is approximately 29.6%.
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REMENEDHEEEIIN Turnover analysis by product category:

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2010 2009
BEBT BEAT

HK$ million % HKS$ million %

[E3sgas:] Finished zippers
TEhE Metal zippers 86.77 43.6% 63.12 39.3%
[esEr Nylon zippers 76.99 38.6% 67.56 42.0%
BB Plastic zippers 19.06 9.6% 16.26 10.1%
182.82 91.8% 146.94 91.4%
EAVIE] Sliders 5.58 2.8% 414 2.6%
B Premium items 3.06 1.5% 8.00 5.0%
EHAh, Others 7.76 3.9% 1.63 1.0%
MR Total turnover 199.22 100.0% 160.71 100.0%

(HEET) SR Tumover 99,22
BT )
(HK$ million)
160.71 B2y, 1640
ﬁ 19.06
N 1377
117.40 :“\. B .%“.
91.58 T~ e "
o2 5o Py Py
23 98 PO
N G Q 8
e P B 268 BN o2
o vs5 gl P P
G G a Q
=05 = a3
i . i'. 52.53 ". B i
2007 2008 2009 2010 F19 Year

A fak: [ERENISE BRI s - MKk HM
‘ Metal zippers ‘ ‘ ‘

Nylon zippers Plastic zippers Sliders, premium items
and others
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BB EE DR E XN Turnover analysis by geographic location:

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2010 2009
BHEET "AHEBT
HK$ million % HK$ million %
By Southern China 106.13 53.3% 97.58 60.7%
EH Eastern China 72.17 36.2% 48.93 30.5%
NEBIN Overseas 20.92 10.5% 14.20 8.8%
2R Total turnover 199.22 100.0% 160.71 100.0%
&5 2£ 28 Turnover
(BE8HBT)
(HK$ million) ke
O 2092
160.71 e
.‘.. 14.20 :.&
Q N 7217
117.40 e e
N 1222 .3. 48.93 .:.
91.58 e e e
oy 309 Pa 549 ”a ’g.
e 5 Oy e %a
o > > >
- ) N a
%a s P sz Pig %P
i R A &
2007 2008 2009 2010 4 Year
‘ ?&Ethern China ‘ ?aftern China ggrseas
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FINISHED ZIPPERS

Revenue from sales of finished zippers increased by
approximately HK$35.88 million or 24.4% on a year-on-year
basis primarily due to an increase in sales volume. Such increase
was as a result of (i) the growth of the apparel industry in China
due to the continuous growth in purchasing power of the urban
population, which increased the demand for quality zippers;
(i) the Group’s success in providing tailor made products and
services to the apparel brand owners; and (iii) an increase in the
number of apparel brand owners designating the Group to supply
finished zippers to their OEMs. There were 22 new apparel brand
owners, comprising 10 local brands and 12 international brands,
cooperated with the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010 as a result of the Group's successful sales and marketing
strategies. The sales to the OEMs of these new apparel brand
owners in 2010 amounted to approximately HK$6.63 million,
which represented approximately 18.5% of the growth of revenue
from sales of finished zippers for the year 2010.
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SLIDERS

Sales of sliders increased by approximately 34.8% to HK$5.58
million for the year 2010 (2009: HK$4.14 million) due to an
increase in sales orders for sliders from a European zipper
producer who manufactures zippers for well known fashion

brands.

PREMIUM ITEMS

Sales of premium items (such as toy figures, ornaments, key-rings
and clothing accessories) decreased by approximately 61.8% to
HK$3.06 million for the year 2010 (2009: HK$8.00 million) due to a
change in product mix. The sales of premium items in 2009 were
mainly contributed by the sales of a series of specially designed
toy figures which were launched during the second half of 2009
for meeting the promotional needs of an apparel brand owner.

Such series of toy figures were not provided in 2010.

OTHERS

Others represent items such as scrap materials, zipper
components and moulds. Sales of other items increased by
approximately 3.8 times to HK$7.76 million for the year 2010
(2009: HK$1.63 million) due to an increase in sales of scrap zinc
alloy to third parties which was no longer recycled in the Group's

production of zipper sliders.
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B A B B COST OF SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

R20105F - REBERBHEEXNLAD AR In 2010, the overall cost of sales for the Group amounted to
118,770,0007% 7T (2009 : 95,580,000 % approximately HK$118.77 million (2009: HK$95.58 million) which
TL) BB AEK24.3% - AEEEEEFH represented an increase of approximately 24.3%. The overall

2009 F 19 65,130,000 78 JT & 1 49123.5% & gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 23.5% from
20104 #980,460,000,8 7T 2010 F 4 F HK$65.13 million in 2009 to HK$80.46 million in 2010. The overall
F| % £ 40.4% (2009 4F : 40.5%) * B22009 gross profit margin in 2010 was 40.4% (2009: 40.5%), which was

FRE - comparable to 2009.
RERENESHENDT Gross profit analysis by product category:
BZE12A3MBLFE
Year ended 31 December
2010 2009
HEET "BEBT
HK$ million % HKS$ million %
TREERIER Finished zippers 76.20 94.7% 58.80 90.3%
hrsE Sliders 1.64 2.0% 1.49 2.2%
B Premium items 0.49 0.6% 3.82 5.9%
Hth Others 2.13 2.7% 1.02 1.6%
HEF| Total gross profit 80.46 100.0% 65.13 100.0%
_ EA Gross profit
(BEEET)
(HK$ million)
80.46
65.13 o
49.78 102 e 1o
37.84 13 Sig i e
g 05 ;a‘: 159 & 58.80 2. =
i d- A A
2007 2008 2009 2010 19 Year
‘ ﬁi%giﬁi!ippers g%(%rs ‘ E;Tﬁium items ‘ %f%rs
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FINISHED ZIPPERS

Gross profit for finished zippers increased by approximately
29.6% from HK$58.80 million in 2009 to HK$76.20 million in 2010.
Gross profit margin slightly increased from approximately 40.0%
to 41.7%, which was attributable to an increase in the gross profit
margins of nylon and plastic zippers as a result of a better cost
control on the outsourced electroplating process and economies
of scale.

SLIDERS

Gross profit for sliders increased by approximately 10.1% from
HK$1.49 million in 2009 to HK$1.64 million in 2010. Gross profit
margin on the other hand decreased from approximately 36.0%
t0 29.4%, which was primarily due to an increase in costs of
production to enhance the quality of sliders sold to a European

zipper producer by not recycling scrap zinc alloy.

PREMIUM ITEMS

Gross profit for premium items decreased by approximately
87.2% from HK$3.82 million in 2009 to HK$0.49 million in 2010.
Gross profit margin decreased from approximately 47.8% to
16.0%, which was primarily attributable to (i) market competition
which drove down selling prices; and (ii) the change in product
mix. The sales of premium items in 2009 were mainly contributed
by the sales of a series of specially designed toy figures which had
a relatively higher gross profit margin than those of the premium
items sold in 2010.
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OTHERS

Gross profit for other items increased by approximately 1.1 times
from HK$1.02 million in 2009 to HK$2.13 million in 2010. Gross
profit margin on the other hand decreased from approximately
62.6% to 27.4%, which was because the sales of other items
in 2010 mainly represented the sales of scrap zinc alloy to third
parties which had a relatively lower gross profit margin than that
of zipper components and moulds.

DISTRIBUTION COSTS

Distribution costs mainly represent (i) staff costs relating to sales
and marketing personnel; (ii) transportation costs for delivery
of the Group’s products to customers; and (iii) advertising and
promotion expenses. In 2010, the Group’s distribution costs
amounted to approximately HK$9.57 million (2009: HK$7.45
million), accounting for approximately 4.8% of the Group's
turnover (2009: 4.6%). The increase in distribution costs was
mainly due to (i) an increase in transportation costs for product
delivery as a result of the Group's turnover growth; (ii) an increase
in the number of sales executives in order to expand the Group's
market share; and (iii) the expenses incurred for the Group's

participations in the overseas sales exhibitions.
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b2 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

TERATFZRENEERITHRAENTHE Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) salary and
REMER  ()VFTEREE  (IAEBER welfare expenses for management and administrative personnel;
BEEREERBSENHSER 5 (v) XA (i) depreciation and amortisation; (iii) rental expenses for the
5 URVEMTEAS (RREXER) - Group's Guangdong Plant and office in Hong Kong; (iv) auditors’
20104 - ANEBETERF X #/432,890,000 remuneration; and (v) other administrative expenses including
BT (20094F : 18,320,000/870) @ {EANER professional fees. In 2010, the Group's administrative expenses
BERENX16.5% (20094 : 11.4%) T amounted to approximately HK$32.89 million (2009: HK$18.32
FAZIEMEZHR () RMHR 2011 F1 A E million), which accounted for approximately 16.5% of the Group's
MEANZTXEE R LA M4 9,820,000 turnover (2009: 11.4%). The increase in administrative expenses
PETC (1) AR E B - HmERAS was mainly due to (i) the professional fees and other expenses
BEEBER ARG ANEEFZERILM - of approximately HK$9.82 million incurred in connection with the

listing of the Shares in January 2011; (i) an increase in the number

of senior staff in order to cope with the Group's business growth;
and (iii) an increase in the audit fee for the Group.

g 5 4] FINANCE COSTS

HHEREAEERITEENMN A Finance costs represent interest expenses on the Group's bank
borrowings.

Pif B INCOME TAX

FreMEEREMARERFEREE 2 & Income tax mainly represents the tax expenses incurred in relation

EEMBIEMRS - to the operations of the Group in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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PROFITABILITY

In 2010, the Group's profit attributable to Shareholder amounted
to HK$30.07 million (2009: HK$37.35 million), representing a
decrease of 19.5% as compared to 2009. The decrease was
mainly due to (i) a gain on investments in listed equity securities of
approximately HK$6.84 million recorded in 2009 while the Group
ceased investing in listed equity securities in July 2009; and (ii)
an increase in the Group’s administration expenses of HK$14.56
million primarily as a result of the professional fees and other
expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Shares in
January 2011. Margin of profit attributable to Shareholder for the
year was 15.1% (2009: 23.2%), representing a decrease of 8.1
percentage points as compared to 2009.

During the year, the Group’s return on equity was 22.1% (2009:
38.5%), representing a decrease of 16.4 percentage points
as compared to 2009. The Group's relatively lower return on
equity recorded was a result of a decrease in the Group's profit
attributable to Shareholder due to the aforesaid two main reasons

which are one-off events only and will not occur again in 2011.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are one of the principal components of the
Group's current assets. The value of inventories accounted for
approximately 21.5% and 21.6% of the Group’s total current
assets as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 respectively.

The inventories increased by approximately 25.0% from HK$15.43
million as at 31 December 2009 to HK$19.28 million as at 31
December 2010 due to increased production, which is in line with

the increase in the Group's turnover in 2010.
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The decrease in average inventory turnover days from 61 days
in 2009 to 54 days in 2010 was primarily due to the Group's
improved inventory control as a result of the use of SAP system in
Guangdong Plant.

The write-down on inventories for the year 2010 was only
HK$203,000 (2009: nil) because the Group usually procures
the majority of raw materials and commences production after
having confirmed sales orders with customers and the Group's
raw materials are not generally susceptible to obsolescence by
passage of time.

TRADE DEBTORS

The Group's policy in respect of allowance for doubtful debts for
2010 was the same as that in 2009. As at 31 December 2010,
the allowance for doubtful debts was HK$106,000 (31 December
2009: HK$114,000), accounting for 0.2% of the Group's total trade
debtors (2009: 0.5%).

The Group's trade debtors (net) increased by around 76.8% from
approximately HK$24.49 million as at 31 December 2009 to
HK$43.30 million as at 31 December 2010 mainly due to (i) the
sales growth; and (ii) the seasonality that the peak season started
at least one month later in 2010 as compared to 2009 due to a later

Chinese New Year.

The increase in average trade debtors turnover days from 49 days
in 2009 to 62 days in 2010 was primarily due to the delay in peak
season which caused more sales recorded in the fourth quarter of
2010 as compared to the same quarter of 2009.
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B0 HEA Mk TRADE CREDITORS

REEE G EMNREREZHEINHEE R AH The Group's trade creditors primarily relate to the costs of
JERHERMEONA (B 2 ENERNE outsourced electroplating and purchases of raw materials from
REm 724581 %)E0 - suppliers, with credit terms of 7 to 45 days from trade creditors.

REBEE ZENKRFKBE2009F12A31HE The Group's trade creditors decreased by around 21.2% from
#96,920,00087C NEE#I21.2% £ 20104 12 approximately HK$6.92 million as at 31 December 2009 to
A 31 8#5,450,0008 T - FHE S EMNER HK$5.45 million as at 31 December 2010. The average trade
XA H A 2009 F K45 B A ZE 2010 F 69 creditors turnover days decreased from 45 days in 2009 to 36 days
36H - in 2010.
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OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables mainly represent (i) payroll and staff benefits
payable; (ii) accrued expenses for utilities; and (i) payables for
listing expenses. The balance of other payables increased by
approximately 38.4% to HK$24.99 million as at 31 December
2010 (2009: HK$18.05 million) mainly due to an increase in the
number of staff as a result of the Group's business growth and the
expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Shares.

AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

The amounts due to related parties as at 31 December 2009
represented the funds provided by the Controlling Shareholders
(which were unsecured, interest free and had no fixed terms of
repayment) to finance the operations of the Group in previous
years. The balance as at 31 December 2009 was fully settled in
the year 2010.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table is a summary of cash flow data for the two
years ended 31 December 2010:

BEZ12A31BLEFE
Year ended 31 December
2010 2009
HK$ million  HK$ million
BEBT BEET

KRBTSR S F 5 Net cash generated from operating activities 24.11 34.14
wEES (BT, Net cash (used in)/generated

SR & 58 from investing activities (6.97) 4.61
A E BT 5 Net cash used in financing activities (25.66) (34.63)
Be ORd), tEINFEE Net (decrease)/increase in cash (8.52) 4.12
BT AR RESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 23.49 19.35
AN [EE R B Y s 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 0.61 0.02
R12A31AXRE Cash and cash equivalents
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The Group’s net cash inflow from operating activities for the year
2010 amounted to HK$24.11 million (2009: HK$34.14 million).
As at 31 December 2010, cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$15.58 million, representing a net decrease of HK$7.91
million as compared with the position as at 31 December 2009.
The decrease was mainly due to (i) an increase in trade and
other receivables; (i) the professional fees and expenses paid in
connection with the listing of the Shares in January 2011; and {iii)
the investment in fixed assets such as machinery.
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As at 31 December 2010, the Group's short-term bank loans,
in aggregate, amounted to approximately HK$28.21 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$4.36 million over
approximately HK$23.85 million as at 31 December 2009. All the
bank loans were due within one year and secured by the Group's
interest in leasehold land held for own use under operating
lease and buildings. The Group’s short-term bank loans included
Renminbi denominated loans of approximately RMB14 million at
5.31% per annum and approximately RMB10 million at 5.469%
per annum.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not have any unused
bank facilities. During the year 2010, the Group did not hedge
its exposure to interest rate risks. The gearing ratio, which was
calculated by dividing total bank borrowings over total equity,
decreased from approximately 23.7% as at 31 December 2009 to
20.8% as at 31 December 2010.
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NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$27.86 million. The key components of
current assets as at 31 December 2010 included inventories of
approximately HK$19.28 million, trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$53.35 million and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$15.58 million. The key components of current
liabilities included trade and other payables of approximately
HK$30.45 million and bank loans of approximately HK$28.21
million.

The net current assets increased from HK$7.00 million as at 31
December 2009 to HK$27.86 million as at 31 December 2010
primarily due to the increases in inventories and trade debtors of
approximately HK$3.85 million and HK$18.82 million respectively
as a result of the increase in turnover for the year 2010.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2010, buildings with net book value of
HK$30.61 million (31 December 2009: HK$31.07 million) and
leasehold land with net book value of HK$4.28 million (31
December 2009: HK$4.23 million) of the Group were pledged to
secure certain bank loans of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments mainly represent the Group’s commitments
in relation to the machinery for the Guangdong Plant and the
SAP system for Zhejiang Plant. The capital commitments
as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 not provided for in the
financial statements were HK$3.74 million and HK$2.01 million

respectively.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Individual companies within the Group has limited foreign
currency risk as most of the transactions are denominated in
the same currency as the functional currency of the operations
in which they relate. However, as the principal subsidiaries,
KEE Guangdong, KEE Zhejiang and UNA, mainly carried out
transactions in Renminbi and the reporting currency of the Group
is HKS, therefore any appreciation or depreciation of HK$ against
Renminbi will affect the Group's financial position and be reflected
in the exchange reserve. The Group did not hedge its exposure to
risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates during the year
2010.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 923 full-time employees
(31 December 2009: 843 full-time employees). The Group reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees annually according
to the relevant market practice and individual performance of
the employees. Save for the social insurance in China and the
mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has
not set aside or accrued any amount of money to provide for
retirement or similar benefits for its employees. The staff costs
incurred in the year 2010 were approximately HK$41.01 million
(2009: HK$36.44 million).

USE OF NET PROCEEDS RECEIVED FROM
THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

In January 2011, net proceeds received from the initial public
offering, including the exercise of the over-allotment option and
after deducting related expenses, were approximately HK$130
million. Such net proceeds were deposited at the Group's bank
account and will be used in the manner consistent with that
mentioned in the section headed "Future plans and proposed use
of proceeds” of the Prospectus.
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As the Company was listed on 12 January 2011 (the "Date of
Listing”), the Company was not required to comply with the
requirements under the code provisions set out in Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for the accounting period covered
by this annual report.

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the period from the Date of Listing to the date of this annual
report (the “CG Period”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
applied the principles as set out in the CG Code. In the opinion of
the Board, the Company has complied with all the code provisions
and certain recommended best practices as set out in the CG
Code throughout the CG Period.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business
and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by an effective Board which currently
comprises seven members, consisting of three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board assumes responsibility for
leadership and control of the Group and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. All Directors take decisions

objectively in the interests of the Company.
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The Board met once during the CG Period for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. Details of the attendance records are set out below:

Executive Directors Attendance
Mr. Xu Xipeng A

Mr. Xu Xinan mn

Mr. Yang Shaolin A
Non-executive Director

Mr. Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert 11
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Bin A

Mr. Kong Hing Ki 11

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy A

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The Board
includes a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

The list of all Directors is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 2 and the independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 47 to 53.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

There are two key aspects of the management of the Company
— the management of the Board and the day-to-day management
of the Company's business. There is a clear division of
responsibilities at the Company’s Board level to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any
one individual.

The chairman of the Board is Mr. Xu Xipeng, who provides
leadership for the Board and is responsible for chairing the
meetings, managing the operations of the Board, and ensuring
that all major and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely and constructive manner. The chief executive officer
of the Group is Mr. Xu Xinan, who is responsible for running the
Company’s businesses and implementing the Group's strategic
plans and business goals.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Directors are required to keep abreast of their responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the Company's conduct, business
activities and development. Given the essential unitary nature of
the Board, non-executive Director has the same duties of care
and skill and fiduciary duties as executive directors. Non-executive
Director brings a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experience and independent judgement to the Board. Functions of

non-executive Director include (but are not limited to):
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o participating in Board meetings to bring independent
judgement;

o taking the lead where potential conflict of interests may
arise;

o serving on Board committees if invited; and

o scrutinizing the Group’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting

of performance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors. All
the independent non-executive Directors have the appropriate
qualifications in accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under the Listing Rules. Independence of each of the
independent non-executive Directors has been assessed by the
Board and the Board considers that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent as required under the Listing Rules.
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WP R S AT APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

REERZAEHE=F  UTARLE=F Each of the Directors has been appointed for a term of three years

WERE—IX - and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three
years.

RBEARRZHEBERMA - AEEFHIE In accordance with the Company's articles of association, all

LB =FHFERE X MERHERT Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

IMAESTEMWEE2EMFEFTHIER three years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy

ZHEEERRRERNE LHRREE - or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election

by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

41



Kee

& # Annual Report 2010

TEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

42

I % B B

EXREESARAMBHRRZAE - IR
ZEMHRRATFEERRAEEZ BB
N UHEBEBEERRERER 2 Gt E
8l e

AEENABEZZREEREERLEX
KB BRI G IR G RO EI2E K8
ST RDEDI AR RN - Rl K E IR B AR A
NREAEENEE - NEREENATE SR
A RAHEEERRF  YEHESREANRRE
EULBEFRAESERRENESHNE R
PR ZEEAEZEZ GRS °

REXELRHE EXSCBBEXEES
WA ARRBABBEIESE Z A - ZWAR
EAKEZHMBRBRARERF EEGN
BAARRT G M BERBEMFHRETE
%R AR -

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and that relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with.

The internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
to identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of
the Group. The internal auditor reviews and evaluates the control
process, monitors any risk factors on a regular basis, and reports
to the audit committee on any findings and measures to address
the variances and identified risks.

During the CG Period, the Board, through the audit committee,
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Company. The review covered the financial
reporting and compliance procedures of the Group. The Board
also reviewed the qualifications and experience of staff of the

Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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A0 A B Vg EXTERNAL AUDITORS

ARARINEZHEMEBAEMBHREBRERT The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
ZEAFNE 69 H 2 [ B AR

o

reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on page 69.

X FARRAIMNEZEANE BB EENER The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors, KPMG,

FizBlenE121 B2 [RE M HRERNE] is shown in note 5(c) of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
ZMIEES(C) FITR ° Statements” on page 121.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and are

available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee was established by the Board on 14
December 2010. The roles and functions of the audit committee

include the following:

o to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal auditor
or external auditors before submission to the Board;

o to review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditors; and

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk

management system and associated procedures.

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors (namely, Mr. Lin Bin, Mr. Kong Hing Ki and Mr. Tam
Yuk Sang, Sammy) who possess the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. None of the members of the audit committee is a
former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors. The
audit committee has separate and independent access to the
advice and services of the senior management of the Company,
and is able to seek independent professional advice at the

Company’s expense upon reasonable request.
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EREZEENCEERRRBITRNASH The audit committee held two meetings during the CG Period
WEBARERHZEZ2010F12 A31 BILFEE and reviewed the Group's annual results and report for the year
ZEFEERRE  UHKBEREERRER - ended 31 December 2010, the financial reporting and compliance
N EPZ AN A2 B AP ES 1 K R B B I AT procedures, the report of internal auditor from the management
MR 2 EREL 2 RS RERIINEZE on the Company's internal control and risk management review
B (EREERREBFERE LERRRE) and processes, and the re-appointment of the external auditors,

subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

EZZEENHFCSFEERIET Details of the attendance records of the audit committee are set
out below:

A RS Member Attendance

ORI E 2/2 Mr. Lin Bin 2/2

JTEEH S A 2/2 Mr. Kong Hing Ki 2/2

EBAELA 2/2 Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy 2/2

FMZHe REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

EEZCRN2010F 12 A14BRILFHME B The remuneration committee was established by the Board on
g oHFMEZEEG s BRELRBERLETIE 14 December 2010. The roles and functions of the remuneration
7 : committee include the following:

e HMUTEFERSREEEZFTMER e making recommendations on and approving the

MEEARFMEFEREEBERLR remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
DOCAZEHE ¢ packages of the executive directors and the senior
management;

J FIETEBERAEMRER - IR B @ o establishing transparent procedures for developing such
B 451 - BRI ESS AT remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
ABHEA LT TS R2EITEERNGHNE or any of his associates will participate in deciding his own
B K& remuneration; and

. BEA MR ERIRA KT SE B AAR o determining annual remuneration packages by reference to
NEFEGEHM - the performance of the individual and the Company as well

as market practice and conditions.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely, Mr. Xu Xipeng, Mr. Lin Bin and Mr. Tam Yuk Sang,
Sammy, the majority of which are independent non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee had not held any
meeting during the CG Period.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established by the Board on
14 December 2010. The roles and functions of the nomination

committee include the following:

o reviewing the Board structure;

o monitoring the nomination and appointment and succession
planning of Directors; and

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The nomination committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Xu Xinan, Mr. Lin Bin and Mr. Kong Hing Ki, the majority of
which are independent non-executive Directors. The nomination
committee had not held any meeting during the CG Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE ON
SHARE DEALINGS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has
been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the CG
Period.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of seven
Directors, including three executive Directors, one non-executive

Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Xipeng (FF88), aged 45, is an executive Director,
chairman of the Board, one of the founders of the Group and
an elder brother of Mr. Xu Xinan. Mr. Xu is responsible for the
formulation of development strategies, overseeing of the overall
business of the Group and the operation of the Board. Mr. Xu
has over 18 years of experience in the zipper industry, especially
the overall management and production supervision. He was

appointed as an executive Director on 6 July 2010.
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Mr. Xu Xinan (:F#37), aged 40, is an executive Director, the
chief executive officer, one of the founders of the Group and
the younger brother of Mr. Xu Xipeng. Mr. Xu is responsible for
the implementation of the decisions of the Board and the overall
guidance and supervision of our business. Mr. Xu has over 18
years of experience in the zipper industry, especially the overall
management, and sales and marketing. He was appointed as an

executive Director on 6 July 2010.

Mr. Yang Shaolin (5 4*#%), aged 37, is an executive Director, the
chief financial officer and one of the joint company secretaries.
He is responsible for the overall financial planning of the Group,
and managing the finance and accounting department and the
information technology department. Mr. Yang joined the Group in
December 2008 and has over 13 years’ experience in corporate
management and financial management. Mr. Yang worked
as an accountant and later as a finance manager in various
manufacturing enterprises (including BIN&RITEEBR AT
(Guangzhou KYH Metal Co., Ltd.) for over two and a half years)
prior to joining the Group. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Economics majoring in accounting from 1t F#H&EZ6: (Beijing
Wuzi University) in 1997. Mr. Yang is also a member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a registered
tax agent in the PRC. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 6 July 2010.
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FEP T E S NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

B¥EKEE 5957 M2010F7 A6 AES Mr. Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert (/7%3), aged 59, was appointed
FRIFNITES - AKRER 2005 FINARSE as a non-executive Director on 6 July 2010. Mr. Chow joined the
I AS SR E A S S SRS N N B BE R R 4 Group in 2005 and has advised the Group on business strategy
ER BAAEGELEERITEBERI9FL and internal controls. Mr. Chow has 19 years’ experience
BEENEZAERSHMFEAEEEELE in corporate management and holds a Bachelor Degree of
fil e AENANERGEMEESHAMAE Commerce from McMaster University in Canada. Mr. Chow is also
(EXRFECMA Canada) &8 » ESLAETEM a member of The Society of Management Accountants of Canada
AKRRRIRIR TIELRHBIE (also known as CMA Canada). Mr. Chow's work experience prior
to joining the Company includes:

e  1988F E19914F - EMEBAFET e  from 1988 to 1991, as the regional finance director of Frank

5 3FE A7 Frank Small & Associates Small & Associates Limited, an Australian market research
Limited &Y [& 5 B 75 48 85 - company;

o 1992FFE1996F F EEBEAMERAE e from 1992 to 1996, as chief operating officer and director

7y 7] Asia Market Intelligence Limited and one of the founders of Asia Market Intelligence Limited,
MEERE EFERBIWAZ— R a market research company in Hong Kong; and

o 19FEAFHRAN  EANRELE e from 1999 until the date of this annual report, as the

MEBEBEMHNEE AR NEHMAGR managing director, the founder and the sole shareholder

ARINEEEKE - BIPARE R of Inetol Cyber Limited (J1EH4HE PR F) of Hong Kong,

Hoo a company engaged in manufacturing and trading of
headwear.

49



Kee

5% Annual Report 2010

EEREREEEBE

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

50

B e AT

MOBEE - 4855 0 H2010F 8 A10HEZ T
RESIERITES - MEER 1984 FE2ER
ITRETE RS - RSB RET R - X8
I%Mﬁiﬁowﬁimwwﬁaﬁﬁk%
BEE (B LB - MEELHEER
MR B ERER BTG - BED
&ﬂﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁ MEER AR ILRESSR
BYE @ EAETIRETETIEEHETP
DEF - MEENARRBACBIE

s ERAANEAHGETF

. BEEAEHERILRE

m B
=
g
E;t
1B
g
8
E’lﬁ
S
Iy
it
M
H
]
g
vl

o HRE ARME A E BRI IES
*E—Ezz\aﬂﬁ;@v%\%ﬂﬁ,g\ °

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Bin (#3&), aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 August 2010. Mr. Lin graduated
from JTFEEF 4R E (Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics)
in 1984 with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics majoring in
industrial accounting. Mr. Lin obtained his Doctorate Degree
in Economics (Accountancy) from EFIAE: (the University of
Xiamen) in 1997. Mr. Lin has served in various positions as tutor,
lecturer and associate professor in the Faculty of Economics and
Management in ZERBAZ (East China Jiaotong University).
Currently, Mr. Lin is a professor and a director of the department
of accountancy and also a director of @5t HELTEHEZHEF R L (the
Education Centre of Master of Professional Accounting) of ALK

B (Sun Yat-Sen University). His roles in public services include:

e the vice chairman of BR A NZHBEFTHE (the Association of
Internal Audit of Guangdong Province);

o the vice chairman of EREEi T2
Guangdong Province);

(the Audit Society of

e acommittee member of PR EHEGEHUEEXZET
(the Committee of Accounting Education of the Accounting
Society of China); and

e a member of FEARKMBEBEPEAIIEFIZEEZE
& HEZRA (the Consultation Team for Enterprise Internal
Control Standards of the Ministry of Finance of the PRC).
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Mr. Lin also acts as an independent non-executive director of:

e ENOEHBRESZIRMBMRAT (Guangzhou Baiyun
International Airport Company Limited), a company whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange;

o FIMEMERMNHABMR~AR (Shenzhen Aisidi Company
Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange; and

o ERSEEREMBHERMARATF (Guangdong By-Health
Biotechnology Company Limited), a company whose shares

are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Kong Hing Ki (CT#3) aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 November 2010. He
has over 10 years' experience in accounting, auditing and finance,
gained from international accountancy and commercial firms.
Currently, he is a financial controller of a company whose ultimate
holding company is listed on the main board of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and is an independent non-
executive director and the audit committee chairman of Hing Lee
(HK) Holdings Limited (stock code: 396), a company whose shares
are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Kong obtained
a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from The Australian National
University and a Master of Business Administration Degree from
Deakin University, which is a joint program of Deakin University
and CPA Australia conducted in Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of CPA Australia.
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Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (:2/B4), aged 47, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 August 2010. Mr.
Tam graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a Professional Diploma in Accountancy in 1986 and is a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over
20 years' experience in accounting, auditing and finance. He is
currently president of Essentack Limited, a corporate strategy and
management advisory company, and he is also an independent
non-executive director and the audit committee chairman of Kith
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1201), a company whose shares are

listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management are responsible for the day-to-day

management of the Group’s business.

Mr. Hsieh Chin Fong (#EB%), aged 66, is the chief technical
officer responsible for overseeing various aspects of product
design, and research and development departments. He has
many years of experience in the zipper industry including zipper
production and the development of zipper production machinery.
Prior to joining the Group in November 2004, Mr. Hsieh had
worked for several zipper manufacturers in Taiwan. Mr. Hsieh
acted as a senior specialist in ZZ AR EERD BBR A F) (Max Zipper
Co., Ltd) from 1987 to 1993 and acted as a general manager in 7
FH RN B AT (Unitech Zipper & Machinery Co. Ltd) from
1992 to 2004.

Ms. Mo Qiuye (E#ZE), aged 32, was appointed as senior
sales manager in December 2009. She is responsible for the
management of the Group’s China sales and customer service.
Ms. Mo joined the Group in March 1999 as a sales assistant. In
2007, she was appointed as a sales manager. Ms. Mo has more
than 11 years’ experience in the sale of zippers and garment
accessories and has an in-depth knowledge in the apparel

business.
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Mr. Wei Chengxin (E8£15), aged 38, is the factory director. Mr.
Wei joined the Group in March 1997 as a member of the field
quality control team and he was promoted to the production
department manager in September 1998. Mr. Wei was further
promoted to become the factory director of KEE Suzhou in
September 2006 and was transferred to his current position at
KEE Zhejiang in May 2008. Mr. Wei has more than 13 years’
experience in the management of production of zippers and has an
in-depth knowledge in the techniques required of the production
of zippers.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Yang Shaolin (#52#f), aged 37, an executive Director and
our chief financial officer, was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on 25 November 2010. For details of
his biography, please refer to the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management — Executive Directors”.

Ms. Li Yan Wing, Rita (Z87%f), aged 45, was appointed as
a joint company secretary of the Company on 25 November
2010. Ms. Li is a director of the corporate services division of
Tricor Services Limited and an associate of both The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She has over 20 years’
experience in corporate advisory services. Prior to joining Tricor
Services Limited, Ms. Li served as a senior manager of the
company secretarial department of Tengis Limited. Ms. Li has
provided various secretarial and corporate services to many listed
companies.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are design, manufacture and sale of
finished zippers in China. The Group’s customers for zippers are
OEMs who manufacture apparel products for (i) apparel brands in
China; and (i) some well known international apparel labels.

The Group also supplies sliders, components of zippers (including
continuous zipper chains and stops) and moulds to other zipper
manufacturers and designs and supplies premium items such as
toy figures, ornaments and key-rings exclusively to apparel brand
owners to meet the promotional needs for their products.




B I 2 )

AATHEBATR2010F12 A31 BWEE
BINR A B RERMEE1(c) »

£ Y213

AREBREZE2010F12 A31 BIEFENE
BENARERE BN [GEKER] -

EETEBABRRKNAFERYPERS -

i

2010612 A31 8+ RARAI DR FEE A
91,700,000/ (20094 : 62,260,000/ L) °
REBFANFGNEDFBHNGEE M BHR
KNGS REEBERN -

| e
%@/fﬁ’@\ JUST FOR YOU

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010
are set out in note 1(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
are set out in the “Consolidated Income Statement” on page 71

of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend in
respect of current year to the Shareholders.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2010, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$91.70 million (2009: HK$62.26 million). Details of
movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BB &AL R MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

REBRUBFEENRMEZES RtE Sales and purchases of the Group attributable to its major customers
EELREHEERKBEWNT - and suppliers respectively in the financial year were as follows:

BE+T-A=1t—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

2010 2009

(HEEEEEN (HREEEN

Aotk AN

% of total % of total

turnover turnover

BAREF The largest customer 6.2% 5.3%
AREF Five largest customers 17.0% 19.2%
ILAEEN (HREREN

Aotk AN

% of total % of total

purchase purchase

=AM IER The largest supplier 22.6% 16.5%
AR ER Five largest suppliers 70.7% 50.8%

AEE LM ARBEFHRBILE=F - B Al of the above five largest suppliers of the Group are independent
EEMAN BEFEEARACHETRA third parties. To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
5% A FHES - BB AL REMBRER
TR EREM AR EEPEEE
Al & o

Directors, their associates or any Shareholder holding more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company, has any interest in

any of the Group's five largest suppliers as disclosed above.
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BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's short-term bank loans, in
aggregate, amounted to approximately HK$28.21 million (2009:
HK$23.85 million). Particulars of the borrowings are set out in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’'s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARES

Details of movements in ordinary shares of the Company during
the year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity
to the consolidated financial statements.

FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last four financial years is set out on pages 4 to 9 of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands where the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities since the

listing of the Company's shares on 12 January 2011.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Xipeng (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Xinan

Mr. Yang Shaolin

Mr. Reisan Moiten (resigned on 6 July 2010)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Bin

Mr. Kong Hing Ki

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung (resigned on 24 November 2010)

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Company's articles of
association, all the Directors will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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W N A BUL R R BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

AEBEZLSREREREHNAFTRE Biographies of Directors and senior management of the Group are

47ZEB3F ° set out on pages 47 to 53 of this annual report.

IR DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
MEEETEARAREWB A TR — None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract which
FARKIEMBAELEE CEERERIN B is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
KREMBREEL o one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/her compliance with the non-competition
undertakings provided to the Company under a deed of non-
competition in favour of the Company entered into on 30
December 2010 (details are disclosed in the Prospectus under the
section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders”).
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under
the deed of non-competition have been complied with by the
Controlling Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, which competes or competed or is
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business at any time during the year ended 31 December
2010 and up to and including the date of this annual report.

PENSION SCHEME

In the PRC, the Group contributes to social insurance on a monthly
basis for its employees. The Group has no further obligation for
payment of post-retirement benefits to employees beyond the
aforesaid contributions made by the Group.

The Group also participates in mandatory provident fund scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and are
under the control of an independent trustee. Both the Group and
its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’
monthly salaries. The mandatory contributions required to be
made respectively by the Group and an employee are each capped
at HK$1,000 per month. Members are entitled to 100% of the
employers’ mandatory contributions as soon as they are paid to
the MPF Scheme but all benefits derived from the mandatory
contributions must be preserved until an employee reaches the
retirement age of 65 or in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2010.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in
the shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ")), as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code"”) contained in the Listing Rules, are as follows:

ey 2 50 4 LoNG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

== ERME R ERad
Director Nature of Interest Number of Shares Percentage
FFE5 15 %5 £ Mr. Xu Xipeng ‘A @] Corporate 300,000,000 72.29%
FFE5E 5L Mr. Xu Xinan ‘A7) Corporate 300,000,000 72.29%

AR B 155 1 2 DB By B B OB A 2 % Y LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

== HBECEEBE Btk

Director Name of Associated Corporation Percentage

FFE5 15 % A Mr. Xu Xipeng Nicco 47.305%

85 Jo M. Xu Xinan Nicco 47.305%

BV S AMr. Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert Nicco 0.50%

RAREBRH  EFWERARAHELM
HEOAE 2B - HERD REEETHE
EAER -

As at the date of this report, the Directors do not hold any short
positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
or any of their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations were recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO as at the date of this report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at the date of this report, the register of substantial
Shareholders maintained under section 336 of the SFO shows
that the Company had been notified of the following substantial
Shareholders’ interests and short positions, representing 5% or

more of the Company's issued share capital:

=g [ ERalnd
Name Number of Shares Percentage
Nicco 300,000,000 72.29%
FFEBMESE 4 Mr. Xu Xipeng (5% Note 1) 300,000,000 72.29%
FrE5 R 554 Mr. Xu Xinan (B3 Note 2) 300,000,000 72.29%
T EEE 22+ Ms. Ke Saixia (fizE Note 1) 300,000,000 72.29%
E24T 27+ Ms. Lu Jiehong (FtiF Note 2) 300,000,000 72.29%
Atlantis Investment Management 23,000,000 5.54%
(Hong Kong) Limited

Bk 2z 4 Ms. Liu Yang (P Note 3) 23,000,000 5.54%
B 5 Notes:

1. MM Nicco Bl A £ B A 47.305% - 1. As Nicco is beneficially owned as to 47.305% by Mr. Xu Xipeng, Mr. Xu

HURRE RS GBI XV - Bk
BRMNiccorAMBRM T HE#RZ - MEE
THERFHELTENRBREEEFRPE K
BIEE XV #4457 A1 Nicco FIEF B IR (D R
i il

Xipeng is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Nicco by virtue of Part
XV of the SFO. Ms. Ke Saixia, being Mr. Xu Xipeng's spouse, is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Nicco under Part XV of the SFO.
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HREE SR EIEHIEXV B - FFifm kAl
WAERNiccoRBHRMNTHEAER - BRI
ZIHERFHRBAENEBREEFRPEK
BIEE XV BB 5% R A7 Nicco FTiE IR D P A

3. L Z5 % 179 F1 Atlantis Investment Management
(Hong Kong) Limited ##A + Eilt’ A& H 2R %
EmPEHF 100% ©

BEXPEmEEN  MEEFALRARA
Z Wt K iR Bt S B RE P B IR AR 5
NEAE PIZE XV 2B 336 RA TR 2 E B AL

.
KB o °©

b
S

5 45 I 0 32 By

NS E R HM T ERNITE RIERR
R MARARMBEEAL - 2010568 A
128 FHBEERFGEEE(EAEMA
N BEEARRNEZENBARRSER (1EA
ABA)FTZEE R - B FHEBLA
Mg ERE LT A AR 260,000 7T
AR(REBAETEIEBAZMN) MRS E
REHEERABLMAEEERN - H2010F
1A1THEZE2012F12A3181EF AH
=F o BUMEMEENEEEAERAFRE
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#HZE2010%F 12 31 HIEFE Year ended 31 December 2010
HZE2011412 A31 HILFZ Year ending 31 December 2011
HZE2012F 12 A31 HIEFE Year ending 31 December 2012

2. As Nicco is beneficially owned as to 47.305 % by Mr. Xu Xinan, Mr. Xu Xinan
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Nicco by virtue of Part XV
of the SFO. Ms. Lu Jiehong, being Mr. Xu Xinan's spouse, is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Nicco under Part XV of the SFO.

3. These shares are owned by Atlantis Investment Management (Hong Kong)
Limited, which is 100% beneficially owned by Ms. Liu Yang.

Save as disclosed above, no person had registered an interest of
a short position in the shares and underlying shares or debentures
of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Both Mr. Xu Xipeng and Mr. Xu Xinan are executive Directors and
Controlling Shareholders and therefore are connected persons of
the Company. Mr. Xu Xipeng and Mr. Xu Xinan (as lessors) and
KEE Guangdong, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as
lessee), entered into a lease agreement (the “ Lease Agreement”)
on 12 August 2010 pursuant to which Mr. Xu Xipeng and Mr. Xu
Xinan have agreed to lease to KEE Guangdong the production
base in Foshan City of Guangdong Province at a monthly rental
of RMB260,000 payable within the first 10 working days of
each month for an initial term of three years commencing on 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2012. An independent property
valuer, Asset Appraisal Limited, advised that the monthly rental of
RMB260,000 is fair and reasonable with reference to the market
rate. For each of the three years ending 31 December 2012, the
annual rental payable by the Group (the “Annual Cap”) under the
Lease Agreement will be as follows:

ARE BT
RMB HK$
3,120,000 3,651,336
3,120,000 3,651,336
3,120,000 3,651,336
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Given the annual rental amount payable by KEE Guangdong, the
Lease Agreement, which constitutes a continuing connected
transaction under Rule 14A.34, falls within the ambit of Rule
14A.35 of the Listing Rules and is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47
of the Listing Rules, the annual review requirements set out in
Rules 14A.37 to 14A.40 of the Listing Rules and the requirements
set out in Rules 14A.35(1) and 14A.35(2) of the Listing Rules.
A waiver from the announcement requirements set out in Rule
14A.47 of the Listing Rules was granted by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange since the details of the Lease Agreement have been
disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed "“Connected
Transaction”.

The Company has complied with the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including the Annual
Cap, and will re-comply with the relevant rules of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules (including independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements) if the waiver from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
expires or the Annual Cap is exceeded, or when the Lease
Agreement expires or is renewed or when there is a material
change to the terms of the Lease Agreement.

ANNUAL REVIEW

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that these transactions were entered into:

() inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)~ on normal commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the Lease Agreement governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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KPMG, the auditors of the Company, was engaged to report on
the above continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and reported their findings to the Board that the
transactions:

(i) have been approved by the Board;

(i)  have been entered into in accordance with the Lease

Agreement during the year; and

(i) have not exceeded the Annual Caps.

OTHER RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the aforesaid continuing connected transactions, the
related-party transactions set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements also include transactions which did not
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Details of other related-party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2010, which did not constitute connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are set out in notes 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the written resolutions
of the sole shareholder of the Company passed on 14 December
2010, pursuant to which the Board may, at its absolute discretion
and on such terms as it may think fit, grants options to any
employee(s) (whether full time or part time including any Director)
of any member of the Group at the exercise price for such number

of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the terms of the
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Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board to grant options to selected employee(s)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential

contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 40,000,000 Shares which represents
approximately 9.6% of the Shares in issue on the date of this
report. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company to any employee(s) (including cancelled, exercised and
outstanding options), in any 12-month period up to the date of grant

shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine but in any event shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of grant. Save as determined by the Board and provided in
the offer of the grant of the relevant options, there is no minimum

holding period before an option is exercisable.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within twenty-
one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable to our Company on acceptance of the offer for the

grant of an option is HK$1.00.

The exercise price is to be determined by the Board provided always
that it shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on the date of offer for the grant of the option,
which must be a trading day; and (ii) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, provided that the exercise price shall in

no event be less than the nominal amount of one Share.
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Since the listing of the Shares on 12 January 2011, no option has
been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less
than 25% of the issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules
since the listing of the Shares on 12 January 2011.

AUDITOR

KPMG will retire as auditors of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company will be proposed

at the annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Xu Xipeng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2011
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
KEE Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KEE
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 172, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2010, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

\We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

16 March 2011




|
\ Iy
,f&{i*%ééL\\JUSTFORYOU

%’é‘ﬂﬂl?ﬁ%’z BZE20105512A31 B IEFE AETTIIR)
Consolidated Income Statement (Exprossed i Hong Kong daters)
2010 2009
B THET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
3 Turnover 3 199,224 160,714
SHERA Cost of sales (118,765) (95,582)
EF Gross profit 80,459 65,132
Hbas Other revenue 1,093 305
RETMRAFZSFREDFR Net realised and unrealised
MR B Wz FRE gain on investments in
listed equity securities 4 - 6,841
HiwZF|,(E58) F8 Other net income/(loss) 290 (370)
PaK =] %N Distribution costs (9,570) (7,446)
THRAX Administrative expenses (32,885) (18,323)
Pyl Profit from operations 39,387 46,139
AE AR Finance costs 5(a) (1,614) (1,885)
BRBLAT R R Profit before taxation 5 37,773 44,254
F1SH Income tax 6 (7,000) (3,979)
FRRA Profit for the year 30,773 40,275
AN IR - Attributable to:
/N g Equity shareholder of
the Company 30,071 37,350
IR Non-controlling interests 702 2,925
F @A Profit for the year 30,773 40,275
BREAREERF (BT) Basic and diluted earnings
per share (HKD) 9 0.10 0.12

FL0E 172 B2 B AT BRER 2 — 3 The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial
7 ° statements.

N
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For the year ended 31 December 2010

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  (xessed in Hong kong doliars)

2010 2009
Bt & FHET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FRRA Profit for the year 30,773 40,275
FREAMEEURA Other comprehensive
income for the year
HE B A R M SRR Exchange differences on
e EE AR O IE =58 translation of financial
statements of subsidiaries 4,597 141
FRZHEBALEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 35,370 40,416
LU B IEMELG ¢ Attributable to:
RARERPR Equity shareholder
of the Company 34,616 37,474
IR S Non-controlling interests 754 2,942
FREEBALEZE Total comprehensive income
for the year 35,370 40,416

F8OE 172 B 2 WK A B REK 2 —3P The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial

-

77 ° statements.
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72010128318 (LABITHIR)

At 31 December 2010

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2010 2009
LhEs: FBT FAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
EE & E Fixed assets 11
o E R — Property, plant and equipment 98,139 87,199
— BB E R ERE — Interest in leasehold land
BRAMEE T R held for own use
under operating lease 4,285 4,232
102,424 91,431
B AE Intangible assets 12 4,511 =
R EAEIGRIA Long-term receivables 14 = 847
EE MEFEENTENRIE Prepayments for fixed and
intangible assets 15 489 875
EIETIEEE Deferred tax assets 18(b) 556 944
107,980 94,097
MENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 19,281 15,432
H 5 &k E At EWGRIE Trade and other receivables 17 53,349 29,688
JE Uk B8 58 75 TR IE Amounts due from related parties  26(d) = 1,034
BNEf AT g Bl F I8 Current tax recoverable 18(a) 1,215 2,219
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 19 15,584 23,493
89,429 71,866
nRBEE Current liabilities
B NEMERFIE Trade and other payables 20 30,445 24,964
FET A& 75 5RIE Amounts due to related parties 26(d) = 11,051
RITERK Bank loans 21 28,205 23,850
BIERFER B 1R Current tax payable 18(a) 2,920 4,998
61,570 64,863
MEVEEFEE Net current assets 27,859 7,003
EEABERRBARS Total assets less
current liabilities 135,839 101,100
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#2010F12A318 (LUBTHIR)
At 31 December 2010
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2010 2009
Bt & THET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
BEERIAERE Deferred tax liabilities 18(c) - 631
BEEFE Net assets 135,839 100,469
EXRf#iE Capital and reserves 23
&N Share capital = 1,000
& Reserves 135,839 96,055
PAUNETE 5 Total equity attributable to
FE(L R 4A%E equity shareholder of
the Company 135,839 97,055
IR Non-controlling interests = 3,414
SRR Total equity 135,839 100,469

BEEN2011E3 A 16 B ELTFRETIE o

EF
wHE5 s

FB0E172E ZMEBA A B IRK 2 —&

N
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Xu Xipeng
Director

statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16
March 2011.

Yang Shaolin

Director

The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial
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#2010F12A318 (LUBTHIR)
At 31 December 2010
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2010 2009
B THET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
L EYNE P T Interest in a subsidiary 13 = =
mENEE GremeeseEs
H b pelfk1a Other receivables 17 6,495 =
mEIEE Current liabllites
H AT FRIR Other payables 20 8,471 =
FEN—REM B AR 2 58 Amount due to a subsidiary 26(e) 9,350 -
17,821 -
BEFE Net liabilities (11,326) -
AR f#HE Capital and reserves 23
[N Share capital = -
e Reserves (11,326) -
TR MAER Total equity (11,326) =

FBEEN2011F3 A 16 B ELIRHETIES o

BF BF
=HE5 M5 B

FBOENT2EZMIEBRAMERE 2 — &

5 o

N

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16
March 2011.

Xu Xipeng Yang Shaolin
Director Director

The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial
statements.
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HZE2010F12A31HILFE (WAATTHIR)

For the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FARRGRFRE
Attributable to the equity shareholder of the Company
R
BR EE EX 78 Bi
e it fifa fifa Bl Non- 7Esd%E
Share  Capital Statutory Exchange Retained &3t controlling Total
capital  reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Total interests  equity
WE TER  TER TR TAR  TER  TER  TER  TER
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
#R200951A18 At 1 January 2009 1,000 1,264 7010 12946 28361 50581 472 51,083
ERaf] Profit for the year - - - - 3730 37350 2925 40275
E2ERA Other comprehensive
Income - - - 124 - 124 17 141
EWAEE Total comprehensive income - - - 124 330 A4 290 40M6
IREETRE Appropriation to
statutory reserve - - 3,449 - (3,449) = = =
EAEIEE R Dividends declared by subsidiaries
ERERNES to non-controlling interests = = = = = - (1,09%)  (1,09)
HERERTE Contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 1,09% 1,09%
SRR TE Contribution from the
ultimate controlling parties - 9,000 - - - 9,000 - 9,000
20095124318 At 31 December 2009
R2010F1518 and 1 January 2010 1000 10264 10459 13070 62262 97,055 3414 100469
EREH Profit for the year - - - - 30071 300m 02 30773
A 2ERA Other comprehensive income - - - 455 - 4545 5 4597
SERAEE Total comprehensive income - - - 455 30071 34616 754 36370
IREETRE Appropriation to statutory reseve - - - B4y - - -
WE-EREAF Acquisition of non-controliing
MRS interests in a subsidiary - 4168 = = - 4188 (4168) =
EaRRiE Contribution from the
equity shareholder 23(d) (1,000) 1,000 - - - - - -
HERBAA Disposal of subsidiaries - - B27) (1951 2778 - - -
R2010512 4318 At 31 December 2010 - 15432 13044 15664 91,699 135839 - 135,839

FBOENT2HZMFEBRAMBRE 2 — 8

N

4 o
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The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial
statements.
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HZE20106F12A31BIEFE (CAUBTHIR)
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2010 2009
Bt & THET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REER Operating activities
BRA% A Profit before taxation 37,773 44,254
T Adjustments for:
& R Depreciation and amortisation 5(c) 9,922 8,188
RERBIEREE Impairment loss on
doubtful debts 5(c) 25 276
& MO Write down of inventories 16 203 =
A AR Finance costs 5(a) 1,614 1,885
MEMA Interest income 5(c) (90) (305)
HEREEE Net loss on disposal of
BB R FE fixed assets 5(c) 233 171
R ETRAZBHIRED Net realised and unrealised
IR R AR IR W o FRE gain on investments in
listed equity securities - (6,841)
SNEE 518 Foreign exchange loss 1,554 1,044
51,234 48,672
BESSEE Changes in working capital:
=FEGgm, wm (Increase)/decrease in inventories (4,052) 851
B 5 I E A FE MR IR G AN Increase in trade and
other receivables (20,281) (7,865)
B 5 R AEMERFIE Increase/(decrease) in trade and
2,/ Cmd) other payables 1,766 (2,043)
£ B FE MR IR Decrease in long-term receivables 847 208
KEMBSRE Cash generated from operations 29,514 39,823
EPSH Income tax paid 18(a) (5.402) (5,686)
BETREN TS Net cash generated from
Re 8 operating activities 24,112 34,137
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HZE20106F12A31BIEFE (CAUBTHIR)
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2010 2009
Bt & THET FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEE Investing activities
HBEWXE  BER Payment for purchase of
BB property, plant and equipment (19,923) (14,023)
LEME - BE R Proceeds from sale of property,
FABFTEFIE plant and equipment 2,950 119
BEEFEE Payment for purchase of
EfRE7N intangible assets (4,788) =
BER EMRAES Payment for purchase
KERTR of investments
in listed equity securities - (7,327)
HER ETRAES Proceeds from sale of
BB PSR investments in listed
equity securities - 23,164
EE A ERA Payment for purchase of
FHER available-for-sale equity security - (5,107)
AT i H AR AR Proceeds from sale of
BEFTSHRIA available-for-sale equity security = 8,511
AT RIER Advances to related parties = (1,034)
R T (EIE TN Repayment of advances
to related parties 1,034 -
B UHLE Interest received 90 305
U B — PRI P /B 2 =) Acquisition of a subsidiary,
(HBREKEERS) net of cash acquired 8 =
HEHB AR Disposal of subsidiaries,
(HBRELERE) net of cash disposed 13,664 =
BEES (FTA) Net cash (used in)/generated
SR & F5 from investing activities (6,965) 4,608
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2010 2009
B THET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
A& EE Financing activities
FERITERERUE Proceeds from new bank loans 27,557 39,718
BEERITER Repayment of bank loans (24,112) (42,385)
B8 IR Advances from related parties = 7,680
(EERE BN Repayment of advances
from related parties (24,308) (34,993)
BAFIE Interest paid (1,614) (1,540)
f& 0 B TR AU R Payment of share issuing cost (3,193) =
ENREHERENERTS Capital element of finance
lease rentals paid - (2,920)
ENEEHEEEeNT S Interest element of finance
lease rentals paid - (188)
REFEMIARESFRE Net cash used in financing
activities (25,670) (34,628)
ReRASEZEY Net (decrease)/increase in cash
WD), INFEE and cash equivalents (8,523) 4117
BM1A1BNES Cash and cash equivalents
RIREEEY at 1 January 23,493 19,349
EREFBHTE Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes 614 27
M12A31BHHNERE Cash and cash equivalents at
RREEED 31 December 15,584 23,493

FBOEN72EZMIEBAAMEIHRE 2 — &

N

7 e

statements.

The notes on pages 80 to 172 form part of these financial
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1 EEEGHEOE

(2)

YR
HEMBRERZERBRBA G
B A AAEREBM
BHRELR(TEBM G RE L
Al)) - %GB EEMAERNE
BEKEAMBRELEA) (F
AETER) ([FEGERD
kakE BEAREHRARE
ACRFHEGDZ REMARE © 1
S WERBRENCDBRES
BAaXZAERARESFLHMR
Al ERMKERT - AEEM
RAZEBEFBREZHIIM
o

BEGIMAGEMTETHA
RGBT 2 BEM B REER
BRER B AEE RARR A
& 5T BRI A A A A AT R ER AT R
Ao RAHREEBES A
BRIIRER L AR E A R
ZHE] REEFT B AR RE L
AMERETRRES 2 ED
RERREBEHREH - EEHER
PEHERME—A -

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the

Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.
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1

HE O (8

(b)

()

HHER

ARRAFR 2010457 A 6 BIREH
SEHEAREFE22E (1961 FF
IFEL - KiRE RISF)EFRE
HEEMRIA—REREER
BEERAE - BIEN20105F11 A
25 ASERMSEEEM ([E48 ] -
RARKAAREERFETEA
AIRVFERR A &) o BR kil & 48 0 A
B - ADE B EEMA
H A DA SR i R B R A (] 2755 o

B R
AEERMNTIESABRRME
;o o

RAREBH - RRBRIATH
BRR(RMARE  HMHER
BRBINKLFEMACIL - B
HERBLARRABAER) B
EAREEE D - ZFHER
BAIRIBEEIINT

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(©)

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 6 July 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. Pursuant to a group reorganisation completed
on 25 November 2010 (the “Reorganisation”),
the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group. The Company
has not carried on any business since the date
of its incorporation save for the aforementioned
Reorganisation and application of listing.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

At the date of this report, the Company has direct or
indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, which
are private companies or, if established/incorporated
outside Hong Kong, have substantially the same
characteristics as a Hong Kong private company. The

particulars of these subsidiaries are set out below:
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BB TTETE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 EEEEHEOR (80 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(c) AL (&) (c)  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
ML, ERITRAR
B3 EE R B H RAEMER ek R
Place and Issued and fully Attributable
date of paid up/ equity interest FEFEK

NEERE incorporation/ registered B B  Principal

Name of company establishment capital Direct Indirect activities

B 5 B (BVI) HBELES 2% 100% - REER
AR 20108 H13H
([FZEERBVII)

KEE The British Virgin USD2 100% - Investment
International (BVI) Islands (“BVI") holding
Limited 13 August 2010
(“KEE International
BVI")

i B 1,000,000 7T - 100% EBENEER
ARAT] 200243 A 1H
([FZHsE])

KEE Zippers Hong Kong HKD1,000,000 - 100%  Trading of
Corporation Limited 1 March 2002 zipper
("KEE Zippers") products

5 (BR) Mk REARAMNE 18,500,000 7T - 100% EEKHE
BHERAR (TEd) WEEm
(IRZER]) 200543 A 21H

KEE (Guangdong) The People’s Republic HKD18,500,000 - 100%  Manufacture
Garment Accessories of China (the "PRC") and sale of
Limited 21 March 2005 zipper
("KEE Guangdong”) products
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FE O (8 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(c) HmiRILHE (&) ()  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
MR, BRITRHR
BRIz 3B A H BRA,/EER Fefk B
Place and Issued and fully Attributable
date of paid up/ equity interest EEEFH

NEEHE incorporation/ registered B B  Principal

Name of company establishment capital Direct Indirect activities

B % (L) BRae o 7,500,000 % 7T - 100% EEREE
RHERAR 20059 A9H (PR aE ) P m
([FRSHL)

KEE (Zhejiang) The PRC USD7,500,000 - 100%  Manufacture
Garment Accessories 9 September 2005 (note i) and sale of
Limited zipper
(“KEE Zhejiang") products

Bl T B A AR el AR 100,0007T —  100% ERETRIHE
RHARLAR 200946 A 10H (F=Ei) FRERCHF
(T&#1)

Foshan City UNA The PRC RMB100,000 - 100%  Design and sale
Garment Accessories 10 June 2009 (note ii) of garment
Co., Limited (“UNA") accessories
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1

HEEHBOR (4) 1

(©)

B RIEE (4)
REBPRERNHEIATMEEE
79 100% %4 (R KIFE28) ¢

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
The Group disposed of the 100% equity interest in the

following two entities during the year (see note 28):

HMEL, ERTRAR

BRIt 26K A E R RE A FEfL R E

Place and Issued and fully Attributable

date of paid up/ equity interest EFEEFK

NE) BB incorporation/ registered BHiE B#  Principal

Name of company establishment capital Direct Indirect activities

2 BRI E BE 10,000 % 7T - 100% IREER
AR 200392 A 24 A (FHEED)

(TRAZKRE])

KEE International Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 100% Investment
Investment 24 February 2003 (note i) holding
Co., Limited
("KEE Investment”)

B SR (FRN) o 1,000,000 7T - 100% EfFLEES
BRAF] 2003%F10A8H (PH&ED)

(TFRAZEM )

Easyzip (Suzhou) The PRC USD1,000,000 - 100%  Dormant

Co., Limited 8 October 2003 (note i)

("KEE Suzhou")

B 3E (i)

B3 (i)

B % & # A20094 12 A 31
HEEEREZEZSEED
15% ARHE o pAbtEE27 PRt EE -
AEER2010F6 A11 BUREE
ZEEERER Bl 2T
ERKAAEENZEHER
ET o

AEER 201046 A12 BUEE
BN 2 FPARHE -

Note (i) The non-controlling interests in the financial statements as at
31 December 2009 represent 15% equity interest in these
entities. As disclosed in note 27, the Group acquired such
non-controlling interests on 11 June 2010 and these entities
then became 100% owned subsidiaries of the Group.

Note (ji

The Group acquired the 100% equity interest in UNA on 12
June 2010.
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BEHCREBEEEGFTMAERM
BV TS| 55T B 5 BRI R
BHHAHETIEIE - RRE
PR A B R a5 2 A 3 5%
EB A AE R A ERLA R
A o FITAR B B AMENFE 5
BIFR BV I &y 2 BBt DA K 31T R
SER BVI A AIRERFE S g2
MEHEREHMARRKRAS
R TR - AR
TRFASNBRHELEMRR
MASNENEENBERESE
AR RO St AR B FERR AT & ©
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The Reorganisation has been accounted for
in accordance with paragraph 5 of Accounting
Guideline 5, Merger accounting for common control
combinations, issued by the HKICPA, which requires
the use of a principle similar to that for a reverse
acquisition as set out in Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 3, Business combinations. The issue of
shares of the Company in exchange for the entire
interest in KEE International BVI and the issue of
shares of KEE International BVI in exchange for the
entire interest in KEE Zippers resulted in the Company
becoming the intermediate holding company of KEE
Zippers. The financial statements have been prepared
as a continuation of KEE Zippers and the assets
and liabilities of KEE Zippers are recognised and
measured at their historical carrying values prior to the

Reorganisation.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and have been prepared
as if the Group had always been in existence.
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1 BEEFHECR (80)

(©)

R (4)
REMBEHRRRANTERER
R 5B PR AR B2 o

EEEERAENTABBUBRE
ERAM B R IRRET - BIEHEK
KWEARYEE  AE KA
RXHM2/eBERTENH
B - B AIRRER o % b AT AIAE
AERREREBEBEERMEEE
AEERBELRASAENSEL
RARDER - MAKERKS
EREEEBREINEMREESE
=B 15 H RR B B 7E 2T ey
Kig - BERERABEBIINZE
flrst e

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(©)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results

may differ from these estimates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(©)

(d)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management that have
significant effect on these financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed
in note 30.

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing
control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
these financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-
group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing these financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.
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1 EEEEHEOR (80

(d)

B oy 2 i) e i e plf 4 (48)
FEEREERIEIFARNLD AR
BE(EweEEKXHEREBNE
AR B EBRHE LR EES
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(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ((i()l\"l'l.\JUED)
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the
net assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that
are not owned by the Company, whether directly or
indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated balance sheet within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholder of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholder of the

Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are

made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (C()NTIVUED)
When the group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly

controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 1(i)), unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).

OTHER INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES
The Group's policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:
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1 BEEEHEOR (80)

(e)

®

Al JBe A i o5 B ¥ (481)
FIFEERABLZNRENER
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(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e

®

OTHER INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES ((f()\'TH\'UED)
Investments in equity securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At
each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured,
with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
does not include any dividends or interest earned on
these investments.

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in
the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses (see

note 1(i)(i)) as available-for-sale financial assets.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments

or they expire.

PR()PERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses (note 1(i)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of an asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials,
direct labour and any other costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use.
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1 FEFHHEOR (48) 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
) Wk -~ B Kk (A7) (f)  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
mEESk N EME - BEREBHBE Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
BEMAE  DHEMERIEFE disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
MERERRAENZEZRE IR are determined as the difference between the net
eSSk & A B B R R o disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the

item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of

retirement or disposal.

MEDEME  BERZHEE Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
BB AR E AT RIS EE (4 of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
B BT E AR F A residual value, if any, using the straight line method
LA S AT E sy over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- REELHENEF  H -  Buildings situated on leasehold land are
P18 T DA SR AR 4 BR R depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
A AFEHREEE term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
(BN T HHAR T #3820 being no more than 20 years after the date of
F) o completion.

— THEEREHNRETINURR - Leasehold improvement is depreciated over the
0 40 BR B2 4 5 AT (58 A A R shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
NE10F)REEE - estimated useful lives of 1 to 10 years.

- R 104 - Machinery 10 years

—  EHEEHAMR 54 —  Vehicles and other equipment 5 years
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(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

(®

PR()PERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ((i()l\"l'l.\JUED)
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if

any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress (“CIP"”) represents property,
plant and equipment under construction and pending
installation, and is stated at cost less any impairment

losses (note 1(i)(ii)).

Cost comprises direct costs of construction during
the construction period. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the CIP is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour,
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment loss (see note 1(i)(ii)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful

life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(i)(ii)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9]

(h)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible asset with finite useful life is amortised from
the date it is available for use and its estimated useful
life is:

- Software 5 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are

reviewed annually.

LEASED ASSETS

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which
do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)  LEASED ASSETS(CONTINUED)

(i)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments,
of such assets are included in property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, are recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation is provided
at rates which write off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or,
where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in
note 1(f). Impairment losses are accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 1(i)(ii). Finance charges implicit in
the lease payments are charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

LEASED ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(iii)  Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent rentals
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease term.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

®

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
trade and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are
stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at
each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of
the Group about one or more of the following

loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity

instrument below its cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS ((‘()NTINL’ED)

@

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
trade and other receivables (continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss

is determined and recognised as follows:

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’'s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

@

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
trade and other receivables (continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade debtors directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in

profit or loss.
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1 FEFHHEOR (48) 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
() WA () (i)  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(i) FA B R (ii)  Impairment of other assets
AEBREELE AR Internal and external sources of information
A HINE R AR - LAZETE A are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
& B Al AR B kR B g identify indications that the following assets may
REREEETBFEX be impaired or an impairment loss previously
AIAERLHIR recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:
-  UE - BEKEE -  property, plant and equipment;
- BEEE:R —  intangible assets; and
— DHEAUKEHER —  pre-paid interests in leasehold land
BHHEE TR classified as being held under an operating
TR I o lease.
it & I bt E R RIFIE - If any such indication exists, the asset’s
AlgtstAEEEN K recoverable amount is estimated.
Bl 55 o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (C()NTI\'[,’ED)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0]

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or

value in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset's carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)}

INVENTORIES
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first in first out formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to

their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

(U)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 1(i)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts
(see note 1(i)(i)).

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

103



Kee

PR IR BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

104

1 BEEEEHEOR (8)

(m)

()

(0)

B& R &SR
RekReEFENEBRRITET
SRS - RITHEEMES BEERN
AEE R R AR AE MBERR
SHEHRRBMRE  m%F
REMEEZEHRREE  BR
BARFT=EARZIH -

B30 B LA M A ik

B 5 MEMENFRIBENFRA
FERER ERAZEHKA
SR - BRIEMAEIR MR Y A&
R RIEERT » AHIRE AT

D B i A

e FEEL BHFR-IE
ERFERNRFEIMHETR RIS E
&M B A A 8 B 1R 4148 B AR 7%
WEEE o i Bl FRIAHAEF
BEEXEH MAEBTESE
R R EREGIRBEANR

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m)

()

(0)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

INCOME TAX

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to business combinations, or
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income

or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(P

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it
is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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1 FEFFHEOR (48) 1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(r) WaEmER (r) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Was iR B W KRB R FE Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
HE o WEBEMRARERARE consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
C M RS (niE A ) BE 5 probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
A EETER - TISBERAEE Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
B ER measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or

loss as follows:

i) HEER (i) Sale of goods
KR EPFEEXED Revenue is recognised when the customer
K P B #E R A B R B K P has accepted the goods and the related risks
BRERBMIFRER - Wz T and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes
BIEEAED X E A E value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
o AARGCHNKRERNEZ deduction of any trade discounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

)

REVENUE RECOGNITION ((T()NTI\'L’ED)

(i)  Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the group for expenses incurred
are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

For the purpose of presenting these financial
statements, the Group adopted HKD as its
presentation currency. The functional currencies of
the KEE Zippers and the subsidiaries incorporated in
Hong Kong are HKD and the functional currencies of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC are Renminbi
("RMB").

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

O]

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES ((l()l\'TINUED)
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
HKD at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Balance sheet items are translated into HKD at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the balance
sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or

loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

(u)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs

are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or

sale are interrupted or complete.

RELATED PARTIES
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party

is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
(i)~ the party is an associate of the Group or a joint

venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv)  the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent,
or, a close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint control or

significant influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party of the
Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the

entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in these financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for the financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The HKICPA has issued two revised HKFRSs, a number

of amendments to HKFRSs and two new Interpretations
that are first effective for the current accounting period
of the Group and the Company. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group's financial
statements:

HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), Business combinations

Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate
financial statements

o Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)

The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The developments resulted in changes in accounting policy
but none of these changes in policy have a material impact
on the current or comparative periods, for the following

reasons:

° As a result of the adoption of the amendments to
HKAS 27, the acquisition of an additional interest in
a non-wholly owned subsidiary will be accounted for
as a transaction with equity shareholders (the non-
controlling interests) in their capacity as owners and
therefore no goodwill will be recognised as a result
of such transactions. During the current period, the
Group has acquired an additional 15% interest in a non-
wholly owned subsidiary. Further details are disclosed

in note 27(b) to the financial statements.

o The impact of the majority of the revisions to HKFRS
3 and other revisions to HKAS 27 has not yet had
a material effect on these financial statements as
these changes will first be effective as and when the
Group enters into a relevant transaction (for example,
a business combination or a disposal of a subsidiary)
and there is no requirement to restate the amounts
recorded in respect of previous such transactions.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The impact of the amendments to HKFRS 3 (in respect
of recognition of acquiree’s deferred tax assets) and
HKAS 27 (in respect of allocation of losses to non-
controlling interests (previously known as minority
interests) in excess of their equity interest) have had
no material impact as there is no requirement to
restate amounts recorded in previous periods and no
such deferred tax assets or losses arose in the current
period.

As a result of the amendment to HKAS 17, Leases,
arising from the “Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)"
omnibus standard, the Group has re-evaluated the
classification of its interests in leasehold land as
to whether, in the Group's judgement, the lease
transfers significantly all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the land such that the Group is in a
position economically similar to that of a purchaser.
The Group has concluded that the classification of
such leases as operating leases continues to be
appropriate and the amendment to HKAS 17 has
had no material impact on the Group's consolidated

financial statements.
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The principal activities of the Group are manufacture and

sale of zippers and other related products such as sliders,

tapes and other products.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to

customers. The amount of each significant category of

revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

2010 2009

THExT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

BN Metal zippers 86,768 63,116
JE BRI §8 Nylon zippers 76,992 67,559
BB §E Plastic zippers 19,060 16,265
EAVE] Sliders 5,580 4137
B Premium items 3,055 8,001
Hith Others 7,769 1,636
199,224 160,714

BEENEFARZBBBAEEE

¥FER10% °

No individual customer had transactions exceeded

10% of the Group's turnover.
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4 G EWBARREGFEE N TR 4 NET REALISED AND UNREALISED GAIN

B A 5 BB % ¥ ON INVESTMENTS IN LISTED EQUITY
SECURITIES
AEER2009FRFBIARTHH £ The Group invested certain cash in equity securities listed
MRABHFRAETHES  WER in the PRC A share stock market in 2009 and disposed of all
2009F 7 A EFMBEM LEMRARE such listed equity securities in July 2009.
22
5 BBimiEA 5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BRFEIEFE MR (GtA) THIEE Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(a) REEAR (a) FINANCE COSTS
2010 2009
FET FH&T
HK$°000 HK$'000

SRITIEZ (BRAESEA  Interest on bank borrowings

2EEE) A B wholly repayable within five years 1,614 1,885
(b) HBIEA&" (b)  STAFF cosTs*
2010 2009
FHET FH&TT
HK$'000 HK$'000
e IBR Salaries, wages and

E At A other benefits 38,378 34,400

MERBMHEFUEKRETE]  Contributions to defined
YEH B3R contribution retirement plans 2,630 2,038
41,008 36,438
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711 34,889,000 77T )2 30,593,000
BTRETIRA T8 R#HE
AR RELBTFBREN EX
S FE5(b) P ER £ & A 048
A -

(c) MALHEH (¢) OTHER ITEMS
2010 2009
FEx FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
e RiEE- Depreciation and amortisation”
— T ERES — land lease premium
(BifEE11) (note 11) 92 91
—Hih&E - other assets
(M¥EE11 ~12) (note 11, 12) 9,830 8,097
REEE Impairment losses
—B 5 REMEK — trade and other receivables
A (HIFE17(b) (note 17(b)) 25 276
LETAERY Operating lease charges 4,057 3,717
b 5 B 1R F R Net foreign exchange loss 163 45
HEREEE Net loss on disposal of
R fixed assets 233 171
R BUA Interest income (90) (305)
BTN & Auditors’ remuneration 932 239
WX Listing expenses 9,820 =
RS R AR Research and development costs 857 815
FEKRA" Cost of inventories® 118,765 95,582
« 2010 B2009FEEERANS *  Cost of inventories includes HKD34,889,000 and

HKD30,593,000 for 2010 and 2009 respectively relating
to staff costs and depreciation and amortisation
expenses, which amounts are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or
in note 5(b) for each of these types of expenses.
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6 ARTIcaR AR M BT A8 6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT
(a) HAEBARFRN PR ¢ (a) INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
REPRESENTS:
2010 2009
THBT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIHEA 1R — Current tax — PRC corporate
EFREBH income tax
FREE Provision for the year 5,914 2,948

BNEAFIE — &8 FIBH Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax

FANEHE Provision for the year 1,324 308
IEIERIIE Deferred tax
TRMETERN Origination and reversal of
EEAE R temporary differences (238) 723
7,000 3,979
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6 AR M BB () 6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) 860 B ¢ B 432 98 ) B R 5 & (b) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE AND ACCOUNTING
wh A Wy BHUR S  F PROFIT AT APPLICABLE TAX RATES:
2010 2009
FTHExT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FRBE RT3 Profit before taxation 37,773 44,254
FRAR AR A A B2 Notional tax on profit before taxation,
I - IR5EE calculated at the rates applicable
AERE R )@ ) E A to profits in the
B EGTE jurisdiction concerned
(=D (note i) 12,009 11,824
AR A X Non-deductible expenses 202 71
RIERHA B Effect of unused tax losses
RIEEENTZE not recognised 157 41
BAEREREEA Effect of previously unrecognised
HIBE RN E tax losses utilised = (2,552)
MKEEBENTE Effect of tax concessions
(BT i) (note ii) (5,368) (5,562)
B R% B IE R PRC dividend withholding tax
(BT i) (note iii) - 157
ERRIERAY Actual tax expense 7,000 3,979
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE AND ACCOUNTING

PROFIT AT APPLICABLE TAX RATES: (CONI‘IN UED)

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
or the BVI.

KEE Zippers is subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax at 16.5% in 2010 and 2009. The payments
of dividends by Hong Kong companies are not
subject to any Hong Kong withholding tax.

The PRC statutory income tax rate applicable
to the Company’s subsidiaries is 25% effective
from 1 January 2008.

KEE Guangdong and KEE Zhejiang, being
production-oriented FIEs with operating periods
of 10 years or more, were each entitled to
two-year exemption from income tax followed
by three-year 50% reduction in income tax
rate commencing from the first profit-making
year from PRC income tax perspective (“2+3
tax holiday”). KEE Guangdong commenced
its 243 tax holiday in 2006 and KEE Zhejiang

commenced its 2+3 tax holiday in 2008.




| e
%(M{Q\ JUST FOR YOU

6 AR M BT BL ()

(b)  BESH BH S BL 5 B A S
wh B Ay RS T - ()

(iii)

BIRR BB EMSHER
Hig@%e - PREERG
%3 B2008F1 18 #
BRI EAEEREFE
REOEBREERNRE -
BEM10% HTEI - B
20084 1 A1 BAIEAR X
DIRBNERETEME -
R0 P 3 B AR
B B L R B A 2 HE
REBEESR  ER[ER
BEANUHERRERS
%£25% kA L IR ANEZS Y
BRUBBMGERATIZ
e TR B A 2 5% SF

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE AND ACCOUNTING

PROFIT AT APPLICABLE TAX RATES: (CONTINUED)

(iii)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the
PRC and its relevant regulations, PRC-resident
enterprises are levied withholding income tax
at 10% on dividends to their non-PRC-resident
corporate investors for earnings accumulated
beginning on 1 January 2008. Undistributed
earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are
exempted from such withholding tax. Under the
Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement and
its relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong
tax resident which is the “beneficial owner” and
holds 25% or more of the equity interest of a
PRC-resident enterprise is entitled to a reduced
withholding tax rate of 5%.
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7 EHHH 7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AEEMESEHMFBOT ¢ Details of directors’ remuneration of the Group are as
follows:

HZ20105 12831 ALLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Eae = 121
REYER L3\
Salaries, STEIHER

EZEWE  allowances  Retirement

Directors’ and benefits scheme st
fees in kind contributions Total
TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
HTES Executive directors
HinlE Xu Xipeng 17 432 11 460
TR Xu Xinan 17 362 11 390
B Yang Shaolin 17 464 11 492
FHITES Non-executive director
[BES Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert 300 = = 300
BYFHITES Independent non-executive
directors
R Lin Bin 12 - - 12
pAN:Ea:1 Kong Hing Ki 10 = = 10
B4 Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy 10 = = 10
383 1,258 33 1,674
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7 WHH (B) 7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

HZ2009F 12 A31ALLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009
e 2B
RENEF FEd/N
Salaries, BE S
E£E#4% allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme Foby

fees in kind contributions Total
FTHET TR AT FTET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

HITES Executive directors

Arils Xu Xipeng - 327 21 348

s Xu Xinan - 272 21 293

B Yang Shaolin - 311 21 332

FHITES Non-executive director

B Chow Hoi Kwang, Albert 300 = = 300

BYFHITES Independent non-executive

directors

3R Lin Bin - - - _

L HE Kong Hing Ki = - - -

EI4 Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy - = = =
300 910 63 1,273

AEEBEENHENTESTHTX There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to

B 5 8 Fi7 3t A 1= 37 B A == R AR 4] A B the directors or any of the highest paid individuals set out in

ARSI EEIMBAREESNERMA note 8 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the

BHRCUBBAE BMEESINE Group or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no

KRABRET SO o arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to

waive any emoluments.
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8 HmEHMAL 8§ INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
hEESTMALTY  B2HRAES Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(20094 : 14) » REMNFHMAMEET (2009: one) are directors, whose emoluments are disclosed
FHE o BINIZ(20094F 48 &= in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
A TR AN T other three (2009: four) individuals are as follows:
2010 2009
FHET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
e R H A Salaries and other emoluments 1,137 1,506
BIBEIEAL Discretionary bonuses 152 88
BIRETEI AR Retirement scheme contributions 44 45
1,333 1,639
3% (2009F : 4 %) &= H A LA E The emoluments of the three (2009: four) individuals with
BN F AT EE - the highest emoluments are within the following band:
2010 2009
FHET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
T ITE 1,000,000 7T Nil to HKD1,000,000 3 4
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company for the respective years and on the assumption
that 300,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company were
in issue comprising 200 ordinary shares in issue as at 31
December 2010 and 299,999,800 ordinary shares issued in
January 2011 pursuant to the capitalisation issue.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, and
therefore, diluted earnings per share are the same as the
basic earnings per share.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by geographical areas.
In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following two reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

° Southern China and overseas: this segment
manufactures zipper products and mainly sells to
customers in Southern China and overseas market.
Currently its activities are mainly carried out in
Guangdong province and Hong Kong.

o Eastern China: this segment manufactures zipper
products and mainly sells to customers in Eastern
China. Currently its activities are mainly carried out in
Zhejiang province.
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10 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(@)

SEGMENT RESULTS AND SEGMENT ASSETS

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results and assets attributable to each reportable

segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all assets with the exception
of investments in financial assets and deferred tax

assets.

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is "adjusted profit before taxation” i.e. “turnover
less cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative
expenses and finance costs”. Items not specifically
attributed to individual segment such as gain or
loss from investments in listed equity securities are
excluded from the calculation of segment profit. The
Group’'s senior executive management is provided
with segment information concerning segment
revenue, profit and assets. Segment liabilities are not
reported to the Group's senior executive management

regularly.
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10 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) SEGMENT RESULTS AND SEGMENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Information regarding the Group's reportable
segments as provided to the Group’'s most senior

executive management for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance

for 2010 and 2009 respectively is set out below:

Year ended 31 December 2010

FEREHN
Southern China ER et
and overseas Eastern China Total
TET THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REINRAE P WE Revenue from external customers 127,052 72,172 199,224
Dbk Inter-segment revenue 22,946 319 23,265
EES e Reportable segment revenue 149,998 72,491 222,489
A E2F DR T Reportable segment profit 30,354 17,269 47,623
MEFAXS Interest expense (668) (946) (1,614)
FANIE Depreciation and amortisation
PR3] for the year (6,267) (3,655) (9,922)
FROTZI/PZEE  Reportable segment assets
at year end 107,820 86,150 193,970
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10 Zr#Bseh (&) 10 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(a) A RET R (4]) (a)  SEGMENT RESULTS AND SEGMENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)
HZE2009F 12 A31 BILFE Year ended 31 December 2009
Ecyeah S hisEolN
Southern China EH wEt
and overseas Eastern China Total

TAT TAT TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

REINE P UE Revenue from external customers 111,784 48,930 160,714
7 EBfE s Inter-segment revenue 16,952 5,195 22,147
Al 2o U Reportable segment revenue 128,736 54,125 182,861
Al 2D 26§ Reportable segment profit 23,015 15,730 38,745
AMERXZ Interest expense (1,744) (141) (1,885)
FRITE N Depreciation and amortisation

for the year (4,906) (3,282) (8,188)

FIRHAI2MHILEE Reportable segment assets

at year end 90,932 77,235 168,167
(b) WA ~ WA S I K (b) RECONCILIATIONS OF REPORTABLE SEGMENT REVENUES, PROFIT
i B R OR LOSS AND ASSETS
2010 2009
FHET FH&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Yz Revenue
BES SR E Reportable segment revenue 222,489 182,861
H 55  EPE U e Elimination of inter-segment revenue (23,265) (22,147)
e Consolidated turnover 199,224 160,714
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10 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

LEE: s LE- R -7 7)1 (b)  RECONCILIATIONS OF REPORTABLE SEGMENT REVENUES, PROFIT
g i S MR (%) OR LOSS AND ASSETS (CONTINUED)
2010 2009
THERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Al Profit
A] 2R 2F5a A Reportable segment profit 47,623 38,745
D EEEERFS  Elimination of unrealised profit
REEEER of inter-segment purchase of
REIR G inventories and fixed assets (465) (1,267)
REPAEEINEZFH Reportable segment profit derived from
Al 230 A Group’s external customers 47,158 37,478
Hlas - ) _EMAEA Other revenue, net realised
BERENSEIY  and unrealised gain on
RERUWEFER investments in listed equity
H 18558 securities and other net loss 1,383 6,776
Ko Be s Unallocated head office
RAFERRT and corporate expenses (10,768) =
REBRB AT Consolidated profit before taxation 37,773 44,254
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10 2r#B3 (%) 10 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(b) DES: T s {E-RW -7 E7 304 (b) RECONCILIATIONS OF REPORTABLE SEGMENT REVENUES, PROFIT
g i S M (40) OR LOSS AND ASSETS (CONTINUED)
2010 2009
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
A 2MHAEE Reportable segment assets 193,970 168,167
DI EEEEFER  Elimination of unrealised profit of
REIR A inter-segment purchase of inventories (711) (329)
i EEEERETE  Elimination of unrealised profit of
B ERREIR T inter-segment purchase of fixed assets (2,901) (2,819)
190,358 165,019
RIETHIAEE Deferred tax assets 556 944
RO BLAEER Unallocated head office and
ERT corporate assets 6,495 =
mEEE Consolidated assets 197,409 165,963
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11 R 11 FIXED ASSETS
A S 1 TrE GROUP
RiEEE
BEEE
BANEE
it
Interest in
RER leasehold
RftRta land held
Vehicles HEH(E #RIE for own
and LeaseholdConstruction /)it use under
B3P #eE  other  imp- in  Sub- operating @t
Buildings Machinery equipment rovement progress total lease Total
TEr TEx TEx TEz TEx TEx FEr  TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R : Cost:
#R2009%1A18  At1January 2009 33346 46,781 6,867 4467 3235 94686 4534 99220
R Exchange adjustments 53 85 1 8 3 160 7 167
R Additions 125 10,648 525 1,074 - 12372 - 12372
L& Disposals (79) (354) (252) - - (685) - (685)
BAEEIEELN  Transfer from CIP - 3238 - - (3239 - - -
#2009F 128318 At 31 December 2009
B2010%€1 818 and 1 January 2010 3445 60398 7141 5549 - 106533 4541 111,074
R Exchange adjustments 1164 2,336 255 308 84 4147 158 4,305
WeE—RIMBAR  Acquisition of a subsidiary = - 32 = = 32 = 32
R Additions 30 6,738 1,185 182 12,09 20229 - 20229
L& Disposals - (3392 (130) = - (3522 - (3522
BEEIEEN  Transfer from CIP - 38% - 4891 (8527) - - -
12010412 A318 At 31 December 2010 34639 69916 8483 10730 3651 127419 4699 132,118
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11 ¥ (81) 11 FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)
A4 (%) TrE GROUP (CONTINUED)

BERE
BRNEE
T
Interest in
RER leasehold
HtRfE land held
Vehicles HE%EE HTEIR for own
and LeaseholdConstruction /Mgt use under

EF #z  other imp- in Sub- operating it

Buildings Machinery equipment rovement progress total lease Total

Tér TEr TEx TER TEr TEx TEx  TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

ZEHHE: Accumulated depreciation:

R2009F1A18  At1January 2009 (45) (7595  (2616)  (454) - (16100 (218 (11.828)
fE 5 R Exchange adjustments (3) (14) 4) (1) = (22) - (22)
ERxH Charge for the year (1508  (4793)  (1,225) (571) - (8097) 91 (8188)
R ERER Whitten back on disposals 79 21 75 - - 395 - 395

2009612 A31H At 31 December 2009

R201051818  and 1 January 2010 (2377) (12161 (37700 (1,026) - (19334) (309 (19643)
SR 2 Exchange adjustments (119) (515) (144) (58) - (836) (13) (849)
FERRI Charge for the year (1532)  (5628)  (1,380) (909) - (9449 (92)  (9,541)
R EREE Written back on disposals - 298 41 - - 339 - 339
R2010%12 5318 At31 December 2010 (4028) (18008) (5253  (1,993) - (292800 (414)  (29694)
REE: Carrying amount:

200912 5318 At31 December 2009 31068 48237 3371 4513 - 87199 4232 91431
R2010612 8318 At 31 December 2010 30611 51910 3230 8737 3651 98139 4285 102424

136




) A
Vo /
%(M{Q\ JUST FOR YOU
11 [l ¥ (4f) 11 FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(a) BERLCEHERESANEELS (a)  The interest in leasehold land held for own use under
iR IR EE 50 F R B E operating lease is held on a medium-term lease of 50
=l years in the PRC.
(b) 20109 12A31H ' BREE (b)  Certain interest in leasehold land held for own use

#£534,897,0008 LRI TARIRAS
EHERIEFERNHEE i
REFERAEEARITERE
R (RKIEE21) -

under operating lease and buildings with an aggregate
carrying value of HKD34,897,000 were pledged
as securities for bank loans of the Group as at 31
December 2010 (see note 21).

12 B %A 12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
REE
B4
The Group
Software
FiExT
HK$'000
A Cost:
200941 A1 H ~ 20094 At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009
12 A31BX2010F1 A1 8 and 1 January 2010 -
NE Additions 4,788
P FHEE Exchange adjustments 113
R2010412 A31 A At 31 December2010 4,901
ZETE Accumulated amortisation:
7200941 A1H - 2009 F At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009
12A318%2010F181H and 1 January 2010 -
FNEEH Amortisation for the year (381)
PE 5 AR Exchange adjustments (9)
M 2010512 A 31 H At 31 December 2010 (390
BRMEE : Carrying amount:
7200912 A31H At 31 December 2009 —
R2010%F12 A31H At 31 December 2010 4,511
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(BRBEEIBIN - FIBESBEABITEE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY

ARQH
The Company
2010 2009
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000

FEETRAD - AR

ZEEBIEAN N BN KEE BVI AR AN AE
&= EHZE2010F12 A31 B EE &
BE/TAE A5 B A50,000%7T(50,000
REREE 1T EBR) R23ETT

=3} e e
ZEEH AN 2009F 12 A31 B X FA

SEEENFIE ARE BEEAK
JE(EE - A2010F 9 BiEEER -

14

VAl 5 %€ P Bk 6T € Y B K
B
EBRIERUBEYE - BE RREN
R AEMBNHE -

15

14

15

Unlisted shares, at cost - =

The balance represents the Company’s equity interest in
KEE BVI, authorised and issued share capital of which as
of 31 December 2010 are USD 50,000 (ordinary shares of
50,000 of USD 1 each) and USD 2 respectively.

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

The balances represent the advances to employees of
the Group at 31 December 2009, which were interest
free, unsecured and repayable. The balance was settled in
September 2010.

PREPAYMENTS FOR FIXED AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The balances represent the prepayments for the purchase of

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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16 #R] 16 INVENTORIES
A5
The Group
2010 2009
FET FH&T
HK$°000 HK$'000
R R Raw materials 5,859 7,672
R Work in progress 12,020 5,808
K Finished goods 1,402 2,052
19,281 15,432
BRAEHIUTNEBERARNEFEESEE An analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
DHTIAT - expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:
AEE
The Group
2010 2009
FHET THT
HK$°000 HK$'000
EEFENREE Carrying amount of inventories sold 118,562 95,582
WRFE Write down of inventories 203 =
118,765 95,5682
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17 S5 B b M Wk 17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AEE AT
The Group The Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

TiBx TAET TET TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000

FEUBRIE Trade debtors 43,409 24,602 - =
R REREAE Less: allowance for
doubtful debts (106) (114) - -
43,303 24,488 - -
AR EAY Prepaid listing expenses 6,495 - 6,495 -
H A FEA FRIE Other prepayments 1,854 1,305 = =
e K& H e IE Deposits and other debtors 1,697 3,895 = =
53,349 29,688 6,495 -
(a) B (@) AGEING ANALYSIS
REER  BREEES RAME Included in trade and other receivables are trade
WK IE A O FE YR BR 18 (H0 B8 R BR debtors (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the
BE) R ST ¢ following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date:
rEE
The Group
2010 2009
FET FH&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
ENER Current 17,783 22,419
BHI 2 3{E A Less than 3 months past due 25,126 1,796
£ HAER B 3 1 A More than 3 months but less than
BRE12M@A 12 months past due 394 273
BHESRE Amount past due 25,520 2,069
43,303 24,488
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(@)  AGEING ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
Trade debtors are due within 30-60 days from the date
of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
are set out in note 24(a).

(b) IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS
Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group
is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in
which case the impairment loss is written off against
trade debtors directly (see note 1(i)(i)).
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(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

B 5 B b ME Wk B (%) 17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
(b) R BB T DAL (8) (b) IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS (CONTINUED)
FARKBEZHOT : The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year is as follows:
REHE
The Group
2010 2009
FBT BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
®1HA18 At 1 January 114 200
b 5 R B Exchange adjustments 4 =
BRERRERSE Impairment loss recognised 25 276
i RN Uncollectible amounts written off (37) (362)
M12A31H At 31 December 106 114

MK2010F12A31H X & E
J& U BR 78 106,000% 7T (2009 :
114,000 ) B E AEBIRE °
B (B FE W3k T8 B 3R B S
ENEPLER  BERENMG
TEHiEZ 5 R R IBE N Re e o
It BRI ERERE -
A& B R B % F AR T
ARG o

At 31 December 2010, the Group's trade debtors of
HKD106,000 (2009: HKD114,000) respectively were
individually determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables related to customers that were
in financial difficulties and management assessed that
the receivables are not expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts
were recognised in full. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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17 S5 B U A B WOk O (48) 17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
(c) AR HE e Ml I (¢) TRADE DEBTORS THAT ARE NOT IMPAIRED
I 4 E Rl sk B8 FRARER The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are neither
FE U BRIE R BREC D ATAR T individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
is as follows:
AEE
The Group
2010 2009
FiEx THT
HK$°000 HK$'000
SN AEEDIe ] Neither past due nor impaired 17,783 22,419
wEAE3EA Less than 3 months past due 25,126 1,796
w1 HAER B 3 1B A More than 3 months but less than
BTE12MA 12 months past due 394 273
25,520 2,069
43,303 24,488
BR AR 480 B 7T A R (B A JE W K18 B Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
REWERARRCENEFE relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
7 o was no recent history of default.
B 48 HR B R R (B /) JE U SR IE L % Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
EEIBEFPER  ZERFPRA to a number of independent customers that have
SENEELERIT - BES a good track record with the Group. Based on past
TR BRNEEERIESEXR experience, management believes that no impairment
BE) - BEBRDER BB allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
Bl - ERERED AR ELS there has not been a significant change in credit quality
BRIEL R E R - NEBW AR and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
I E S E AR R o The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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18 A W A L M I BT 19 18 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET
(a) & A8 & A fE R AR e (a) CURRENT TAX PAYABLE/RECOVERABLE IN THE CONSOLIDATED
£+ B BER I - BALANCE SHEET REPRESENTS:
rEE
The Group
2010 2009
FTHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
R1A1E At 1 January 2,779 5,202
bE Exchange adjustments 48 7
FRENEAERIEME  Provision for PRC corporate income
(FF=E6(a)) tax (note 6(a)) 5914 2,948
BANETEE Provision for Hong Kong Profits
(KiEE6(a)) Tax (note 6(a)) 1,324 308
BEFEH Income tax paid (5,402) (5,686)
HE—RRERQR Disposal of a subsidiary
(PFifEE28) (note 28) (2,958) -
®12 A31H At 31 December 1,705 2,779
Al - Represented by:
REE
The Group
2010 2009
T FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
BNERfES R IR Current tax payable 2,920 4,998
BNHEART UG B %518 Current tax recoverable (1,215) (2,219)
1,705 2,779
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18 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

(b) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS RECOGNISED:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in

the consolidated balance sheet and the movements

during the year are as follows:

SERAR
BR 54
REm HELEN
RAES AERRH EEARX
REWER Unrealised K E:tER
Loss on profit Pre-
investments Zitarising from  operating
inlisted  B{BE#E intra-group expenses
equity Cumulativetransactions and #st
securities tax losses elimination  accruals Total
TET TET THET THET THET
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
EERIERE Deferred tax arising from:
2009%1H1H At 1 January 2009 1,023 321 52 148 1,544
B 5 AR Exchange adjustments - - (34) - (34)
B (H0B) /3TN (Charged)/credited
to profit or loss (1,023) (321) 728 50 (566)
720095 12 A31 B & At 31 December 2009 and
20101411 1 January 2010 - - 746 198 944
[E 5 A% Exchange adjustments - - - 4 4
REZNHR Charged to profit or loss = = (294) (98) (392)
20105128318 At31 December 2010 - - 452 104 556
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18 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

(c) DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES RECOGNISED:
The component of deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements
during the year are as follows:

FREIRR BB
PRC dividend
withholding tax
THERT
HK$'000

EIERIIEZR B Deferred tax arising from:
20091 A1H At 1 January 2009 474
JiSi= Eegil] 53 Charged to profit or loss 157

720094 12 431 B At 31 December 2009

& 2010F1A1H and 1 January 2010 631
RIBEET A Credited to profit or loss (631)

72010412 A 31 H

ATl 8 14 Y LI Y

IRIRFTE 1 (0) FRFI R ETECR - R
= BN AR5t R 5 A IE 518 627,000
75 78 (2009 4F : 3,114,0007% JT )
HRELEHBEE  RAR%ZSE
EFIEEIEREMNER - MR
BEHEEREBS AERNBERRE
T B S FEER T I i AT DA R
HBTEEE - ZEBEEEBRN
201512 A31 BfEm °

At 31 December 2010 =

(d) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 1(p), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
HKD627,000 (2009: HKD3,114,000), because such
cumulated tax losses are related to UNA and there was
no convincing evidence existed on the balance sheet
date that sufficient taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. Such tax

losses will expire by 31 December 2015.
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18 HfAEREARNMAIAB (B) 18 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

(e) A W 8 2B E B JH A4 - (e) DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED
R2010%F 12 A31H » BEALE As at 31 December 2010, temporary differences
= B R B R 9 R A R related to the undistributed profits of the Group's
B2 /539,619,000 77T (2009 PRC subsidiaries amounted to HKD39,619,000 (2009:
4 :8,981,0008 7T ) » A A HKD8,981,000), of which deferred tax liabilities were
R AEE S ZEH B A R A A% B not recognised in respect of the tax that would be
K BRERMNERETERA] payable on the distribution of these retained profits
RAERDIR - FH bt I R E S as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
K 5% R B vt ) IRy 2 A 1) B 5 subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
HABMELEREEE - probable that profits will not be distributed in the

foreseeable future.

19 BlE RIS EY 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AEE
The Group

2010 2009

FBT FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

SRITRFHERE Cash at bank and in hand 15,584 23,493
72010512 A31 8 - A&£(15,009,000 As at 31 December 2010, cash and cash equivalents in
77T (2009 4F : 20,383,000 77T ) T3 LA the amount of HKD15,009,000 (2009: HKD20,383,000) are
AREE  TRAPEBBAEFRT denominated in RMB and are deposited in the PRC in the
WAHRE - ARBIIER A B R ordinary course of business. RMB is not a freely convertible
Bk (R REHESAITERA currency and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is
BIINEE ] o subject to the exchange restriction imposed by the PRC

government.
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20 {5 BT Ab HEA ) R H 20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
rEE ¥ /N
The Group The Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

FEx TAT TR TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEfRRIA Trade creditors 5,452 6,915 - -
JENTEKREITEA Payroll and staff
benefits payable 9,578 11,077 82 -
JERTR S Accrued expenses 2,091 1,221 = -
[E & FE N I8 Payables for fixed assets 3,718 3,798 - =
JERT BRI Payables for listing
expenses 8,258 - 8,258 -
Efth e IE Other taxes payable 744 1,290 = =
H At S 5RIR Other payables 604 663 131 -
30,445 24,964 8,471 -
B it A B 5 K& H fth F& {5 5RIB HY) & T AR Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with
BEREEHRRE ST the following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date:
REE
The Group
2010 2009
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
A 1E AR ERIERIES  Due within 1 month or on demand 4,911 6,859
MUERRBEZR Due after 1 month but
31E AR5 Within 3 months 541 56
5,452 6,915
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A7 £ 21 BANK LOANS
REE
The Group
2010 2009
T8t F&T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BIEFFIRITER Secured bank loans 28,205 23,850

R20106F12 8318 » FIEHRITERY
HAR—FAEE  WAASBERE®E
834,897,000 7% ;L & T i M4 25 Iz
BFERA (BHE1) -

P BB R 16 A
REBRBEES®GIERE ST B
PlAZEAERBEIEENRNEAER
MZEEERY —HRGHIEATEST
Z([RiERFTE]) - BESE A —
BHBYTEAEENRTEIENR
FTEl - BIFRESHE  BEXRERE
8% B AKES BB AR 5% mEtE
3 AE AN A 20,0008 TR
LR -

AEETEMNBAREEDNRARER
BAGHENKE - PEMBARZAR
REIRS ERATENEER D
b o REB R M — BAE T AR KT &
TEHFEE #K -

Bk Lt &R RN - AREY EARE
SRR ENHEMERERE -

00

At 31 December 2010, all the bank loans were repayable
within 1 year and were secured by the Group’s interest in
leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying
value of HKD34,897,000 (see note 11).

EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD20,000.

Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement scheme. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of the payroll to the scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement scheme is to

make the specified contributions.

The Group has no other material obligation for payment
of retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions as
described above.
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23 B R A

(2)

(b)

HEAR T 2y 2 52 W)

AEEGR A RS ES
REGER 2 HIIREN &7
R o NAREERER

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@

(AP &S

o> g

ok

-
T

(NS

RELBRZEBHEINDT

MOVEMENTS IN COMPONENTS OF EQUITY

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the Group's
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
in the Company's individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set

out below:

PIN/NE| The Company

A& BARREE  REEE st
Share Capital Cumulated

capital reserve losses Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2010F7 A6 H At 6 July 2010 = — = =
FARER Loss for the year - - (11,326)  (11,326)

M2010%F12 A31 H

JBe A

At 31 December 2010

(b)

(11,326) (11,326)

SHARE CAPITAL

BT BERITREE
2R ESRREE 1 BT
BBk
(20094 : 1,000,000
BREREE BT
B E )

Authorised, issued and fully paid:

2 ordinary shares
of HKD 1 each

(2009: 1,000,000 ordinary

shares of HKD1 each)

2010 2009
THER TAT
HK$°000 HK$'000

- 1,000
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(b)

(©)

JBeAS ()
20104 &% 2009F 12 A31 BHH
RRA 5 RlFE AN~ &) K& 5 5 H g 1Y
[N

ERRN A A RERTEE
EHRE - WERAAR LT
SR—EHREE - HAEEL
RBEEMS  FELARE
Rk -

ETE R RRIBARREPBR AR
I A B FE A B RE A AR SZ Y AR A )
B AR ABERZMARY -
BREHERABESSIE -

RZER - B%  HEIMNTKRHE
55 ek M A3 FE R B A B SZ A 1
BELE  ANKHBATEFEDN
BREFEAEHN(REPEES
RAIRROIFHE)NEL10% 8
BE-—REERHE BEERFFHS
HERBHPEABDERZSER
MABEIRARRENEMER
#160% ° B SR FHAN A
SR D IR B ATETT ©

EE—RFE B BIERARESF
EOEE () - A SR n
REA - HEETHRERERNG
BT DR EMERH) 26% °

]
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23 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share capital at 31 December 2010 and 2009
represents that of the Company and of KEE Zippers

respectively.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Group's residual
assets.

STATUTORY RESERVE

Statutory reserve was established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC. Transfers to the reserve were

approved by the respective board of directors.

KEE Guangdong, UNA, KEE Zhejiang and KEE
Suzhou, which are wholly foreign owned enterprises
incorporated in the PRC, are required to transfer at
least 10% of its net profit (after offsetting prior year's
losses), as determined under the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to statutory general reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital under the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of these entities. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before distribution of dividends

to the equity shareholder.

Statutory general reserve can be used to make good prior
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-up
capital provided that the balance after such conversion is

not less than 25% of the registered capital.
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23 B KAl (B

(d)

(e)

(®

BEARFEEEATSIA

—  ANRBIERZEZER 2007
F1A1VBRAMERTFEEN
NFE - BE1,264,00078

JC

— AR E R RER
HY 7K 55 [ &) & {5 ZRIB RO RE A
FirtE i #95£ & 9,000,000/%8

JC

- ARAAREFEBUESFE
THIERATIEH M EE
4,168,000 87T © WIRER
BEALEH &

—  ADREREARR SN E
B 2 IR E R AR F K
EmELmEE  BHE
#/51,000,000 87T °

ERAFEERRAERNEER
GETLERIN) MBI B A BB B 3R
REENMBINEEZR - ZFHE
THIRIRFMIE 1(s) T B RTBUR
BRI o

it 8 3% 3 D0k
®2010% 12 A31 8 » AED Ik
TAREEEZRROFEHELER
91,699,000/8 7T °

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBRABTTETE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(e)

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve comprises the following:

- the fair value of inventories contributed by the
ultimate controlling parties of the Company prior
to 1 January 2007, amounting to HKD1,264,000;

- contribution made by the ultimate controlling
parties of the Company by waiving the right
to receive an amount payable by the Group,
amounting to HKD9,000,000;

- contribution made by the Company's
shareholder by acquiring the non-controlling
interests and injecting to the Group at nil
consideration, amounting to HKD4,168,000; and

- contribution made by the Company's
shareholder by swapping interest in KEE Zippers
with its interest in the Company, difference of
which amounted to HKD1,000,000.

EXCHANGE RESERVE

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of subsidiaries with functional currencies
other than HKD. The reserve is dealt with in accordance

with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s).

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVES

At 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to the equity
shareholder of the Group was HKD91,699,000.
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23 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

()

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this
purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as total debt
(which includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
and obligation under finance lease, less cash and
cash equivalents). Adjusted capital comprises all

components of equity.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's
strategy, which was unchanged from 2009 was
to maintain the adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio
below 20%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholder, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholder, raise new debt financing or sell assets to

reduce debt.
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23 AR Bl (B0 23 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(g) EARFA () (g)  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
M 20106 12 A31 HHK ARG The adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December
EFRME AR =T 2010 was as follows:
AEE
The Group
2010 2009
FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000
MBBE : Current liabilities:
RITER Bank loans 28,205 23,850
o e NIEEEEY Less: cash and cash equivalents (15,584) (23,493)
KRBT FEE Adjusted net debt 12,621 357
AR Total equity 135,839 100,469
ARG F Adjusted net
afEa X debt-to-equity ratio 9% 0%
24 Axih B A PE K A PE 24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES
AEBEBGNEE  RBHEL - 7 Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
ZREERRDERAEERE KR arises in the normal course of the Group's business.
BAREAE -
AEEFMEBNZEZRR  SBRER The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
BEEHRRERASEEEZSRARERN management policies and practices used by the Group to
BT ¢ manage these risks are described below.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(a)

CREDIT RISK

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are

monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 30-60 days from the date
of billing. Debtors with balances that are past due are
usually requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the

Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore certain
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. 17% of the total trade receivables were
due from the Group's five largest customers as at both
31 December 2010 and 2009.
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(a)

(b)

15 BB (#81)

iES KT A MR
AEEFEBENRAEERR S
BEABRAZSEREENERT
EREMRERE - AEB TS
RECHEEAEBEEERREER
REVFELR

AEBREE S K Hth g ZIE
EENEERBRNE—FTEER
TEAMIETT7 ©

L ) e

AEEANRERNZECXEAEQTA
BEREEE  BEKESBHRE
R E R EEEFARNTER
MREeBREEEEBREET
B EREKFAAESER
RAESEHAE) AKRBOERE
RERERERBESTERE
BT RENER - AERE
R ERR SRR LR ER
WBEEES  LWETZSHEE
BTRENCAHFESRE MU
RENEREHZRPESHE °

TRITREERLREE SR
BEARTHNEOIHA (RES
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(@

(b)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance
sheet after deducting any impairment allowance. The
Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in note 17.

LIQUIDIT\’ RISK

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investments of cash surpluses and
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group's policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:




24 b R B 4 B R A T (%)

(b) R ()

R2010512831H

FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b) LiQuIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2010

.
%(M{%‘\ JUST FOR YOU

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

BHRNARUBRRSRE SR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

1FRH BEEEER

REREF IREE

Within 1 sheet

year or on #st carrying

demand Total amount

FHET FET FET

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

B NMEMMBERFKIE  Trade and other payables 30,445 30,445 30,445

H|ITER Bank loans 28,774 28,774 28,205

#ET Total 59,219 59,219 58,650
M 2009412 A31H At 31 December 2009

BHRMBR SR S
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

1R BEAER

R E KR BRMENE

Within 1 sheet

year or on BET carrying

demand Total amount

FHT FAT FAET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B MEMMERFIE  Trade and other payables 24,964 24,964 24,964

FET A& 5 5RIE Amounts due to related parties 11,051 11,051 11,051

IRITER Bank loans 24,342 24,342 23,850

@st Total 60,357 60,357 59,865
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24 Ak B 4% PR B A P (B1) 24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b) EhE AR (B
W EX AR AEER
2010412 A31 B W R T E K
28,205,000 8 L7 20114 12 A
31 BAIZIEIZA TERE - RZEH
F A B B A 6958 R B 1 R R
FBREEBERNEEFEME

(c) A= BE
AEEMFERABRESZREEB
Ko RZ B FI K K EE R KETE
E’Jf%?ﬂﬁ/“j”%zli%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MER R A FEFERR © B
B 1R E BRI /Y AN &R B R K
KT (i) °

i) FIEHEN
TRAMAREBREEAR
FFEERBENFIERR o

(b)

LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

As shown in the above analysis, bank loans of the
Group amounting to HKD28,205,000 at 31 December
2010 were due to be repaid by 31 December 2011.
The short-term liquidity risk inherent in this contractual
maturity date has been addressed after the balance
sheet date by the cash generated from operating

activities.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from its
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group's interest rate profile as monitored by

management is set out in (i) below.

(i)  Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial
liabilities at the balance sheet date.

2010 2009

ERFIZE % ERFE %

Effective Effective
interest rate T8It interest rate THET
%  HKD’000 % HKD'000

FEMEN Variable rate
borrowings:
RITER Bank loans 5.310% - 5.469% 28,205  5.310% 23,850
fTEEmAas Interest-bearing
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financial liabilities 28,205 23,850
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(c)

INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that a
general increase of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased the Group's profit
after tax and retained profits by approximately
HKD123,000 (2009: HKD104,000). Other
components of equity would not be affected by
the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit
after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the
balance sheet date. In respect of the exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the balance sheet date, the impact on
the Group's profit after tax (and retained profits)
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2009.
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(e)

CURRENCY RISK

Individual companies within the Group has limited
foreign currency risk as most of the transactions
are denominated in the same currency as the
functional currency of the operations in which they
relate. However, as the principal subsidiaries, KEE
Guangdong and KEE Zhejiang, mainly carried out
transactions in RMB, therefore any appreciation or
depreciation of HKD against RMB will affect the
Group's financial position and be reflected in the
exchange reserve.

ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUE

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of
financial instruments.

(i)  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at current market

interest rates for similar financial instruments.

(ii)  Interest rates used for determining fair value
The Group uses the effective interest rate to
discount financial instruments. The interest rates
used are as follows:

2010 2009

Bank loans

5.310% - 5.469% 5.310%
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(@)  Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December
2010 and 2009 not provided for in the Financial

BRERRENT Statements were as follows:
REE
The Group
2010 2009
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEED) Contracted for 2,011 3,739
(b) MEER  RBETAIHEELEM (b) At the balance sheet date, the total future minimum
EEMNMARZER S EEN leases payments under non-cancellable operating
™ leases are payable as follows:
AREE
The Group
2010 2009
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
16K Within 1 year 4,279 539
162 B5FER After 1 year but within 5 years 3,796 494
8,075 1,033
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TR EFZRR AEENEESTE

FEUATAL AR :
BEL AR HAE@MOEER
FHERTHE  SRERAREE
EBAB
Nicco Worldwide HEZERAF]
Inc. ([ Niccol)
ST 5, FTEEEAEHN
BHEHE
A FTEEEAEHN
BHEHE
B> HEZEEAEN
HEFRBESNAF
1L T 8 R HEIEEEAEN
BEFKFERE EHEREBIESNAF
(MERER) 1)

* R2010F6 A12H - BHREAEEKE
WKAZENBAR -
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26

(BEEEBIN - FRESBABTTIE)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the directors are of the view that related parties

of the Group include the following individuals/companies:

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

Xu Xipeng and Xu Xinan Ultimate controlling parties and
key management personnel

Nicco Worldwide Inc. Immediate holding company

(“Nicco”)
Xu Xibin Close family member of the
key management personnel
Xu Lixiong Close family member of the
key management personnel
UNA" A company controlled by a

close family member of the
key management personnel
Foshan Nanhai Zhuyuan A company controlled
Hardware Store by a close family member

("Zhuyuan") of the key management personnel

* On 12 June 2010, UNA was acquired by the Group and became a wholly-

owned subsidiary.
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26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Remuneration for key management personnel,
including the amounts paid to the Group’s directors as
disclosed in note 7, is as follows:

REE
The Group

2010 2009

THET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

52 R B2 A Short-term employee benefits 2,942 2,222
A R E PR IR &I R Contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans 17 106

2,959 2,328

SNt A TBTRA] (Mis
5(b)) °

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note
5(b)).

B i B R O W AR A B (b) RECURRING TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
AREE
The Group
2010 2009
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
MIATEAEZAEE  Rentals paid to

— RIRIER T —Ultimate controlling parties 3,582 3,268
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(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(C) INON-RECURRING TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES

REE
The Group
2010 2009
FBT BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
MIATEFEERS  Merchandise purchased from
— B -UNA 1,308 2,164
— KR ~Zhuyuan 612 993
1,920 3,157

M201066 A « REBRKEA
K% 100,000 7T 17 5F 7 # & — %
FE=FATHEER REHLRE
MR UEE B EA P R & E R E S
AFERE -

2010698 + ARE& 413,871,000
BILTHREBRNiccol 5 5
BE(FAZREFERZIHMND
100% P&4E) B 100% R%AE @ %R
BEF FIRE RN L E B EM AT &%
AEEFENDFERE (HE
28) ©

In June 2010, the Group acquired UNA from Xu
Lixiong and a third party individual at a consideration
of RMB100,000, which approximated the fair value of
UNA's identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

In September 2010, the Group sold its 100% equity
interest in KEE Investment, which holds 100% equity
interest of KEE Suzhou, to Nicco at a consideration of
HKD 13,871,000, which approximated the fair value
of KEE Investment’s identifiable net assets at the

disposal date (note 28).
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26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) BALANCES WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES

At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following

T AR balances with related parties:
JEW (JEST) B Ty 3k Amounts due from/(to) related parties
rEE
The Group

2010 2009

FExT FA&T

HK$°000 HK$'000

—1B# -UNA - 1,034

— ERIRIER T —Ultimate controlling parties = (11,051)

AR TR - 2 B REE The above balances are unsecured, interest free and

E}E%‘Kﬁﬂ have no fixed terms of repayment.

(e)  MEA;— BT B ) 2 i)k

(¢) AMOUNT DUE TO A SUBSIDIARY

AAFH
The Company
2010 2009
FET TET
HK$°000 HK$'000

— RS —KEE Zippers 9,350 =

AAEERTY I - % B REE
-

>5-n

Eﬁ'—’i

The above balances are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.
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27 WO — [P0 B i 2 W) e i M e

fit
(2)

(b)

WO — ) Y )& 28 )
RIEEHA201045 A 24 HHRR
BEE - ASER 201056
R 12 B#EMRE AR 100,0007T
W RE B AR 2 AR - REMRE
MRUEE B A BRI B E R E
WAFEEE - BN EBER
ARHEERTREEEM -

WECHE 2 e A i % T

M®2010F6 811 H ' NiccolA
FSIREM15% RigFB AEIT
I78REARF & H - tERMAR S
W RN S E 15% RENR
8 o N&EERERIFERIER R D
NE AN S 04,168,000 7T ©

28 WMEWEA Y
RIEAEA2010F 9 A 22 BRIk H#EE
Eihek 0 ANEELA13,871,000 BITH]
KEMNicco HERSEE (FHKRE
B MAI100% BHE) #100%
Bt o ZREERSHIRE RS EM
RS BB A &R & EFENR T
BEE REEBHHEARNEE
SFEMAT ¢

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY AND
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(@)

(b)

ACQUIS]TI()N OF A SUBSIDIARY

Pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 24
May 2010, the Group acquired the 100% equity
interest in UNA at a consideration of RMB100,000 on
12 June 2010, which approximated the fair value of
UNA's identifiable net assets on the acquisition date.
UNA is principally engaged in designing and trading of
premium items in the PRC.

A(‘QUIS['I‘ION OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND CAPITAL
CONTRIBUTION

On 11 June 2010, Nicco issued 978 shares of its own
shares to the holder of the 15% equity interests of
KEE Investment as consideration for the transfer of
the 15% equity interest in KEE Investment to KEE
Zippers. The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests and an increase in capital reserve
of HKD4,168,000.

28 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 22

September 2010, the Group disposed of the 100% equity

interest in KEE Investment, which holds 100% equity

interest of KEE Suzhou, to Nicco, at a consideration of
HKD13,871,000. The consideration approximated the fair
value of KEE Investment and KEE Suzhou's identifiable

net assets on the date of disposal. The net assets of the

subsidiaries at the date of disposal are set out below:




28

29

.
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2 2\ () 28 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
2010
T
HK$’000
HENEEFE Net assets disposed of:
Re RREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 207
B 5 Rk H AW IE Trade and other receivables 3,423
FEUS B 5 R SR FRIE Amount due from KEE Zippers 13,707
B 5 R HAERFOR Trade and other payables (50)
BIEApE T H7 18 Current tax payable (2,958)
N ST A FE Amount due to KEE Zhejiang (458)
13,871
BUR &R (E Cash consideration received (13871)
HEMBA R Gain on disposal of interests in subsidiaries =
HEEERESRAFE Net cash inflow arising on disposal,
(FOBRFTHERS) net of cash disposed: 13,664
L B dp # PR B T 29 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE

BEERA HE2010F12A31BH
1R A Nicco * MARAAEZE2010
F12 A31 BOREERT AEriHkL
EREFHETAE

CONTROLLING PARTIES

The directors consider the immediate controlling party
as at 31 December 2010 to be Nicco, while the ultimate
controlling parties of the Company as at 31 December 2010
to be Mr. Xu Xipeng and Mr. Xu Xinan.
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30

(BZBEBIN - FIBRBABTE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group's financial condition and results of operations
are sensitive to accounting methods, assumptions and
estimates that underlie the preparation of the financial
statements. The Group bases the assumptions and
estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that the Group believes to be reasonable
and which form the basis for making judgements about
matters that are not readily apparent from other sources.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates.
Actual results may differ from those estimates as facts,

circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements
and other uncertainties affecting application of those
policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes
in conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the financial statements. The significant
accounting policies are set forth in note 1. The Group
believes the following critical accounting policies involve
the most significant judgements and estimates used in the

preparation of the financial statements.
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30 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) IMPAIRMENT

@

Non-financial long-term assets

If circumstances indicate that the net book
value of property, plant and equipment and
interest in leasehold land held for own use
under operating lease may not be recoverable,
these assets may be considered “impaired”,
and an impairment loss may be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of
assets. The carrying amounts of these assets are
reviewed periodically in order to assess whether
the recoverable amounts have declined below
the carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the net
selling price and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate selling price because quoted
market prices for the Group’s assets are not
readily available. In determining the value in use,
expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sales
volume, selling price, material costs and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including sales volume, expected
changes to selling prices and operating costs,
and discount rate.
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30 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

()

IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)

(i)  Receivables
The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from the inability
of the debtors to make the required payments.
The Group bases the estimates on the ageing of
the trade and other receivables balance, credit-
worthiness of the debtors and historical write-
off experience. If the financial condition of the
debtors were to deteriorate, actual write-offs

would be higher than estimated.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into
account the estimated residual value, if any. The Group
reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly
in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period.
The useful lives are based on the Group’s historical
experience with similar assets and taking into account
upgrading and improvement work performed anticipated
technological changes, and legal or similar limits on
the use of assets. The depreciation and amortisation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are

significant changes from previous estimates.

INVENTORIES

The Group determines the write-down for obsolescence
of inventories. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience in selling
goods of similar nature. It could change significantly as a

result of change in market condition.
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31 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2010

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,

the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and

interpretations and one new standard which are not yet

effective for the year ended 31 December 2010 and which

have not been adopted in these financial statements. These

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

BEUT Bk 2 2BBH
EREEESS

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BB GRS 24 5RAVIERT
Amendments to HKAS 24

R BMEERIE W

HKFRS 9

2010 FEBH B IME LR BuE
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010
BB EERIE 12 5RAERT
Amendments to HKAS 12

AR 5 R ER
Related Party Disclosures
TR THE

Financial Instruments

PSR

Income tax

201151 H1H

1 January 2011

20131 H1H

1 January 2013

201067 A1 H%201MFE1A1H
1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011
201251 H1H

1 January 2012
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KD AR MDD R201MFE1H128 B
EBBRFMMERLET  BROHBEHA
400,000,000 A% - H #1100,000,000
BB 1D (B AR R R B2 A 25%) B
M AREIT o B WEK B E TS 5RIE
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H%KR2011F1 A28 AMARBREAE
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/) PT1S FRIB 4888 4) 420,000,000 7T ©

31

32

(BRBEEIBIN - FIBESBEABITEE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2010 (CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application but is not yet in a position to state whether
these amendments, new standards and interpretations
would have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the HKSE on 12 January 2011 with a total number of
400,000,000 shares, among which 100,000,000 shares
(25% of the total number of shares of the Company) were
issued to the public. The gross proceeds received from the
offering were approximately HKD 133 million. The Company
subsequently over-allotted and issued 15,000,000 shares to
the public on 28 January 2011 and gross proceeds received

were approximately HKD 20 million.
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BERNUTRE :

[EFg]

"Board”

[ERFERE]
“CAGR"

[ ]

“Company”

[ 2R RER |

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[E%]

"Director(s)”

[REE ]
"Group”

[ EREEE ]

“Guangdong Plant”

EARFERA - THwE

means

means

|
V1Y
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following terms shall have the following meanings.

R

the board of Directors

WA FHEE
compound annual growth rate

FSERERAT - R20106F7 A6 BREBER S/ S AET ML
RERRBRAF - AROHREBBRZFER T

KEE Holdings Company Limited, an exempted company
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman
Islands on 6 July 2010, the Shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

ETRBIAT T 2RERBEARBXEMS * #ENicco » FFHIEE
& NFFH AT E

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the
context of the Company, means Nicco, Mr. Xu Xipeng and Mr. Xu

Xinan

RRBES
the director(s) of the Company

RARREMEBAR
the Company and its subsidiaries

REBEMRERE LT 2 EEEM
the Group’s production base in Foshan City of Guangdong
Province
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A7l & ]
“"HK$" and “HK cents”

(&%
“Hong Kong”

[ & 788 52 P ]

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

[FZER]

“KEE Guangdong”

[FAHRE]

" KEE Investment”

[ 78 Z &R |

“KEE Suzhou”

174

means

means

means

BERETEEE BT RABN
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

BB BRI TR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BABERGMARAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

M5 (ER) RERGARAR - %2005 A3 821 BERBEKIH
BRAF - RARAIHEZEHENHE LA

M5 (BR) REEMFBRAFIKEE (Guangdong) Garment
Accessories Limited), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 21 March 2005 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

M2 EEIREGRAR - 7K2003F2 A24 BEBBFMAZHGR
AR - ANicco2E#R - WR2010F9A 22 B TBAREEKE
NG|

KEE International Investment Co., Limited (F S EERIEEER
ANE]), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on
24 February 2003, wholly owned by Nicco and ceased to be a
member of the Group on 22 September 2010

SR gE (BN ) ARAA - R 20034 10 A 8 B B K BR
nAl - HRSKREZEHRE

Mo (M) BRAF(Easyzip (Suzhou) Co., Limited), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 October
2003 and wholly owned by KEE Investment




|
V1Y
4&{&4%§éL\\JUSTFORYOU

[FAZHT] 15 M5OI IREREERAR - K2005F9 A9 AERBRKIANE
AT - BARRIEEZERENKBAR
“KEE Zhejiang” means M5 OT) REMRHEBRAB(KEE (Zhejiang) Garment

Accessories Limited), a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 9 September 2005 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

[ B35 hr i | 5 FSMEERAR - —EN 200243 51 BEEBEMKZNER
AT ARREEEE2EEENHB AT
" KEE Zippers"” means KEE Zippers Corporation Limited (FZH#H R /A F]), a limited

liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on 1 March 2002

and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[ R Al i BB RES EmRA
“Listing Rules” means the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong

Stock Exchange

[ER] i HAESBMRMEENRETS - TEELIEREBETS
“Main Board” means the stock market operated by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,

which excludes the Growth Enterprise Market and the options

market

[Nicco | i Nicco Worldwide Inc. ' A200445 A3 B EBER LB ST
B2 AR AR (BN ARE H #147.305% BT H 5 =R
47.305% EBFTIAMSTERER - 4.89% HBIRF L EEE K 0.5% H
BEEHEAERE)  WARERRER

“Nicco” means Nicco Worldwide Inc., a limited liability company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2004, being 47.305% owned
by Mr. Xu Xipeng, 47.305% owned by Mr. Xu Xinan, 4.89%
owned by Mr. Guo Zhenyi and 0.5% owned by Mr. Chow Hoi
Kwang, Albert as at the date of this report, and a Controlling
Shareholder
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[OEM]
"OEM"

(B

“PRC" or “China”

[HBRRE7E |

“Prospectus”

[ARE ]
“RMB”

[SAP R4t ]
“SAP system”
[Hz17 |
“Share(s)”

[H% 3R |
“Shareholder(s)”

[E4]

“UNA"

DT E
“Zhejiang Plant”
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means

means

means

R fE%E ()

original equipment manufacturer or manufacturing

REARLNE  iAREMS - TRIEESE - REURFIFRIITR
=& &E

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this
report, Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of
the PRC and Taiwan

RNARHEA20105F 12 A 31 BRBKRER
the Company's prospectus dated 31 December 2010

HEDEEEBARE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

H7EEI SAP AG R A BB A RlRE M EEIRAE R4t
an enterprise resources planning system development by SAP

AG of Germany and its affiliated companies

AR RRA P FAKEE 0.01 BT 2 ik in
share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company

PN 1S
shareholder(s) of the Company

BT EARERGBR AR - 7:2009F6 H 10 B EFBIKIZHE
RAR - AAQRIHEEEEEOH B AR

Il EMRER (AR AR (Foshan City UNA Garment
Accessories Co., Limited), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 10 June 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

AEEMRMIA T 2 EEEN
the Group's production base in Jiaxing City of Zhejiang Province
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